
AGENDA

IS-BWYLLGOR CRAFFU HAMDDEN A DIWYLLIANT

10.00 am DYDD IAU, 5 MEDI 2019

COMMITTEE ROOM 1/2 - PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE

Rhan 1

1. Derbyn unrhyw ddatganiadau o fuddiant gan aelodau  

2. Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol  (Tudalennau 5 - 6)

3. Craffu ar faterion gwybodaeth a monitro a adroddir gan  

4. Oriau agor dros y Nadolig a'r Flwyddyn Newydd 2019 - 
Llyfrgelloedd, Theatrau, Canolfannau Cymunedol, Parc Gwledig 
Margam, Canolfannau Hamdden a Phyllau Nofio  (Tudalennau 7 - 
20)
Adroddiad gan y Pennaeth Trawsnewid

5. Adroddiad Cynnydd Cynllun Busnes Canolfan Celfyddydau 
Pontardawe  (Tudalennau 21 - 36)
Adroddiad gan y Pennaeth Trawsnewid

6. Menter Nofio am Ddim Newydd Llywodraeth Cymru  (Tudalennau 
37 - 122)
Adroddiad gan y Pennaeth Trawsnewid

7. Data Rheoli Perfformiad Chwarterol 2019-2020 - Dangosyddion 
Perfformiad Chwarter 1 (1 Ebrill 2019 - 30 Mehefin 2019)  
(Tudalennau 123 - 128)
Adroddiad gan y Pennaeth Cyfranogiad

8. Blaenraglen Waith Craffu 2017/18.  (Tudalennau 129 - 130)



9. Derbyn Blaenraglen Waith Bwrdd Addysg, Sgiliau a Diwylliant y 
Cabinet ar gyfer 2017/18.  (Tudalennau 131 - 134)

10. Unrhyw eitemau brys (boed yn gyhoeddus neu wedi'u heithrio) yn ôl 
disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag Adran 100B (4) (b) o Ddeddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 1972.  

S.Phillips
Prif Weithredwr

Canolfan Ddinesig
Port Talbot Dydd Gwener, 30 Awst 2019

Aelodaeth y Pwyllgor: 

Cadeirydd: S.H.Reynolds

Is-gadeirydd: R.Mizen

Cynghorwyr: D.Keogh, S.Miller, S.Renkes, J.Hale, 
A.J.Richards, D.Whitelock a/ac J.Jones

Nodiadau: 

(1) Os yw aelodau'r pwyllgor neu'r rhai nad ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor 
am gynnig eitemau perthnasol i'w cynnwys ar yr agenda cyn 
cyfarfodydd y dyfodol, rhaid iddynt roi gwybod i'r Prif 
Weithredwr/Cadeirydd 8 niwrnod cyn y cyfarfod. 

(2) Os yw'r rhai nad ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor am fod yn bresennol ar 
gyfer eitem o ddiddordeb, mae'n rhaid rhoi rhybudd ymlaen llaw 
(erbyn 12 hanner dydd ar y diwrnod cyn y cyfarfod).  Gall y rhai nad 
ydynt yn aelodau'r pwyllgor siarad ond nid oes ganddynt hawl i 
bleidleisio, cynnig nac eilio unrhyw gynnig.

(3) Fel arfer, ar gyfer trefniadau cyn craffu, bydd y Cadeirydd yn argymell 
eitemau gweithredol sydd ar ddod i'w trafod/herio.  Mae hefyd yn 



agored i aelodau'r pwyllgor ofyn i eitemau gael eu trafod - er y 
gofynnir i'r aelodau ddewis a dethol yma o ran materion pwysig.

(4) Gwahoddir aelodau perthnasol Bwrdd y Cabinet hefyd i fod yn 
bresennol yn y cyfarfod at ddibenion Craffu/Ymgynghori.

(5) Gofynnir i aelodau'r Pwyllgor Craffu ddod â'u papurau ar gyfer Bwrdd 
y Cabinet i'r cyfarfod.



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



- 28 -

30519

LEISURE AND CULTURE SUB COMMITTEE

(Council Chamber - Port Talbot Civic Centre)

Members Present: 3 May 2019

Chairperson: Councillor  A.L.Thomas

Vice Chairperson: Councillor M.Crowley

Councillors: H.N.James, S.Renkes and A.J.Richards

Officers In 
Attendance

P.Walker, L.Dennis, C.Davies and A.Manchipp

Cabinet Invitees: Councillors  P.A.Rees

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The Minutes of the previous meeting, held on 29 January 2019, were 
agreed as an accurate record.

2. PRINCESS ROYAL 2018-19 UPDATE REPORT 

The Sub Committee considered the report of the Head of 
Transformation in relation to the Princess Royal Theatre for the 
period 2018/19.

Members were pleased to note that the venue subsidy/deficit had 
decreased substantially from £127,539 in 2014/15 to £43,740 in 
2018/19.  This was due in part to a change in the way the Authority 
paid for the acts in the theatre whereby there was a 20%/80% split in 
ticket sales, between the Authority and the agent.

(At this point in the meeting, Councillor H.N.James disclosed his 
interest as he is president of the Briton Ferry Musical Theatre).

Members asked whether there were any plans to refurbish the 
Princess Royal Theatre and were advised that it was hoped to 
undertake some refurbishment particularly the carpet and stage area.  

Tudalen5

Eitem yr Agenda2



- 29 -

30519

It was seen as necessary to carry out some refurbishment in order to 
continue to attract acts to the venue.  

Members advised that they had received some complaints from 
members of the public that the bar closed too early after 
performances – this would be considered by Officers.

Officers were asked whether, in their opinion the Theatre could be in 
profit in the next four years and advised that, with some 
refurbishment, this was a possibility.  There were plans to change 
one of the ground floor bar areas into a shop which would hopefully 
increase profit.

Members asked that they be informed when the decision regarding 
the possible allocation of finances for the refurbishment would be 
made.

Following scrutiny, it was agreed that the report be noted.

3. THE SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19. 

The Sub Committee was advised that two monitoring reports in 
relation to the increased parking charges at the Gnoll Park and Afan 
Argoed had not been ready for consideration at today’s meeting and 
agreed that they be reported to the Education, Skills and Culture 
Scrutiny Committee on 6 June for consideration.  

In relation to the report on the Pontardawe Arts Centre, this would be 
considered by the Sub Committee in June.

 
4. THE EDUCATION, SKILLS AND CULTURE CABINET BOARD 

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19. 

Noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Tudalen6



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

EDUCATION SKILLS AND CULTURE CABINET BOARD

                      Leisure and Culture Scrutiny Sub Committee

5th September 2019

Mr Andrew Thomas Head of Transformation 

Matter for:  Decision
Wards Affected: All

Christmas and New Year Opening Times 2019.  Libraries, 
Theatres, Community Centres, Margam Country Park, 
Leisure Centres and Swimming Pools

Purpose of the Report 

1. The purpose of this report is for Members to agree the proposed opening 
times for the Christmas and New Year period 2019.

Executive Summary

2. Proposed Opening and Closure of facilities over the Christmas Holiday 
period 2019 

Background 

3. Members will be aware that traditionally over the Christmas and New 
Year period the opening times of the above facilities are amended to 
reflect patterns of demand and to accommodate statutory Bank Holidays. 

The proposals for opening and closing have a direct effect on front line 
staff and the arrangements for their annual leave over this period.

The following proposals have been prepared by taking into consideration 
historical levels of usage of the facilities.

Tudalen7

Eitem yr Agenda4



Appendix 1 - Proposed Opening Hours Leisure Centres and Swimming 
Pools

Appendix 2 - Proposed Opening Hours – Margam Country Park, 
Libraries, Museums, Theatres and Community Centres. 

Financial Impact 

4. There are no financial impacts associated with this report.

Integrated Impact Assessment 

5. A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken and is appended 
as (Appendix 3) to assist the Council in discharging its legislative duties 
(under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) 
Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

The first stage assessment has indicated that a more in-depth 
assessment is not required.  

Valleys Communities Impacts

6. There are no Valleys Communities Impacts associated with this report.

Workforce Impacts

7. There are no workforce impacts associated with this report.

Legal Impacts

8. There are no legal impacts associated with this report

Risk Management

There is no Risk impacts associated with this report

Consultation

9. There is no requirement under the Constitution for external consultation 
on this item.

Tudalen8



Recommendations 

10. That Members agree the proposals for Christmas and New Year opening 
and closure for the above facilities as detailed within Appendices 1 – 2.

Reasons for Proposed Decision 

11. To ensure that the Council’s facilities are available to the public when 
there is a demand for them to be open and to enable managers to make 
appropriate arrangements with front line staff over their annual leave.

Implementation of Decision

12. The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period.  

Appendices 

13. Appendix 1 - Proposed Opening Hours Leisure Centres and Swimming 
Pools

Appendix 2 - Proposed Opening Hours – Margam Country Park, 
Libraries, Museums, Theatres and Community Centres.

Appendix 3 - First stage impact assessment.

List of Background Papers

14. None. 

Officer Contact

Paul Walker Operations Coordinator . p.walker@npt.gov.uk 

Tel: 01639 861107

Tudalen9

mailto:p.walker@npt.gov.uk


Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



Appendix One

Appendix 1
PROPOSED OPENING HOURS LEISURE CENTRES AND SWIMMING POOLS 2019

  24.12.18 25.12.18 26.12.18 27.12.18 28.12.18 29.12.18 30.12.18 31.12.18 01.01.19 02.01.18
  Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu
 GYM 8 - 12 Closed 9 - 1 9 – 7 8 – 4 8 – 4 9 – 7 8 – 12 Closed Open
ALFC Swim Casual 8 - 11 Closed Closed 9 – 6 8 – 4 8 – 4 9 – 6 Closed Closed Open
 Lane 8 - 11 Closed Closed 9 - 6 8 – 4 8 – 4 9 - 6 8 - 11 Closed Open

 Gym/Squash
Closed Closed Closed 9.00 - 

4.00
9.00 - 
4.00

9.00 - 4.00 9.00 - 
4.00

Closed Closed Open

NLC Pool
Closed Closed Closed 9.00 - 

4.00
9.00 - 
4.00

9.00 - 4.00 9.00 - 
4.00

Closed Closed Open

 Bar
Open 11.00-

3.00
11.00-
10.00

Open Open Open Open 4.00-12.00 Closed Open

NSC Gym/Sport hall
8.00 – 
12.00

Closed Closed 10.00-
3.00

10.00-
3.00

10.00-3.00 10.00-
3.00

10.00-3.00 Closed Open

PLC
Gym/sports 
hall/Bowls Closed Closed 9.00 - 5.00

9.00 - 
7.00

9.00 - 
4.00 9.00 - 4.00

9.00 - 
4.00 Closed Closed Open

PSP  
Closed Closed Closed 8.00 - 

4.00
8.00 - 
4.00

8.00 - 4.00 8.00 - 
4.00

Closed Closed Open

 Gym Closed Closed Closed 8.00-1.00 8.00-3.00 9.00-3.00 9.00-3.00 Closed Closed Open
VON Pool Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed Closed Open
  
Gwyn 
Hall  

10.00-5.00 Closed Closed Open Open 10.00-5.00 Open 10.00-5.00 Closed Open

T
udalen11



Tudalen12



Appendix Two

PROPOSED OPENING HOURS – MARGAM COUNTRY PARK

The proposal for Margam Country Park is to close at 1.00pm on Tuesday 24th 
December 2019. 

From Thursday 26th December 2019 to Thursday 2nd January 2020; the Park 
will be open 10am-4 pm. 

The Park will reopen as normal on Thursday 2nd January 2020.

PROPOSED OPENING HOURS – LIBRARIES, MUSEUMS AND 
THEATRES.

Libraries:
Saturday 21st December 2019 – Libraries will be open as normal.
Monday 23rd December 2019 - Libraries closed 
Tuesday 24th December 2019 Libraries closed - 
Wednesday 25th December 2019 Christmas Day bank holiday
Thursday 26th December 2019 Boxing Day Bank Holiday
Friday 27th December 2019 Libraries closed 
Monday 30th December 2019 Libraries closed 
Tuesday 31st December 2019 Libraries closed 
Wednesday 1st January, 2020 New Years - Day Bank Holiday
Thursday 2nd January, 2020 – Libraries open as normal

Theatres:
The proposal for the Princess Royal Theatre is to close at 12.00pm Tuesday 24th 
December 2019 and re-open 10.00am on Thursday 2nd January 2020.

The proposal for Pontardawe Arts Centre is to close from Tuesday 24th 
December 2019 and re-open on Friday 3 January 2020.

PROPOSED OPENING HOURS – COMMUNITY CENTRES 

The proposal for Croeserw Community Education Centre is to close from 1pm 
Tuesday 24th December 2019 and reopen Thursday 2nd January 2020.

Tudalen13



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



T
udalen15



T
udalen16



T
udalen17



T
udalen18



T
udalen19



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

EDUCATION, SKILLS AND CULTURE CABINET BOARD

Leisure and Culture Scrutiny Sub Committee
5th September 2019

REPORT OF HEAD OF TRANSFORMATION
ANDREW THOMAS

MATTER: FOR INFORMATION 

WARDS AFFECTED: Pontardawe

PONTARDAWE ARTS CENTRE BUSINESS PLAN 
PROGRESS REPORT.

1. Purpose of the Report 
1.1 To update members on the progress made to date on 

the delivery of the Pontardawe Arts Centre business 
plan.

2. Executive Summary
2.1 Appended as Appendix 1, are the action plan priorities. 

The appendices details progress to date against each 
of the identified priorities.

2.2 As the attached action plans update shows, the Arts 
Centre achieved a £31k net subsidy reduction against 
a target of £20k. There has been a significant shift in 
the programming philosophy at the centre, whilst still 
delivering on the Arts Council for Wales grant 
conditions, the Centre has adopted a more commercial 
approach to programming. There has also been a 
significant uplift in the bar trading position, this is down 
to a complete review of the operation, and a proactive 
approach to linking potential bar profit to events 
programmed at the centre.

3. Background 
3.1 The business plan for Pontardawe Arts Centre was 

approved by Members at the Education Skills and 
Culture Board on the 29th November 2018.

Tudalen21

Eitem yr Agenda5



3.2 The business plan seeks to explore commercial 
opportunities to generate income that will contribute to 
a reduction in the operating subsidy, and meeting 
targets within the forward financial plan.

3.3 The business plan recognised the addition of a new 
cinema is key to sustaining the future of Pontardawe 
Arts Centre. This development would consolidate the 
existing audiences and also widens the appeal to new 
audiences, especially young people, within the 
community.

3.4 The Head of Transformation was granted authority to 
engage with the Arts Council for Wales to secure a 
capital grant towards the cost of a new cinema 
development.

4. Financial Impact 
The business plan seeks to reduce the current level of 
subsidy that Pontardawe Arts Centre receives and to support 
a more sustainable business model for the Council. Financial 
target for a reduced subsidy was achieved in 2018-19

5. Integrated Impact Assessment 
There is no requirement to undertake an Integrated Impact 
Assessment as this report is for monitoring / information 
purposes.

6. Valleys Communities Impacts
There is no implications as this report is for monitoring / 
information purposes. 

7. Workforce Impacts
There are no workforce issues associated with this report.  

8. Legal Impacts
There are no legal impacts associated with this report.

9. Risk Management
There are no risk management issues associated with this 
report.  

Tudalen22



11  Consultation
There is no requirement under the Constitution for external 
consultation on this item.

      12  Recommendation
 The report is for Information only.

13. Reasons for Proposed Decision 
 The report is for Information only.

11. Implementation of Decision
 The report is for Information only. 

12. Appendices 
Appendix 1: Pontardawe Arts Centre Business Plan action    
plan update. 

13.List of Background Papers
  None

Officer Contact
Paul Walker, 
Operations Coordinator
01639 861107
 p.walker@npt.gov.uk 

Tudalen23

mailto:p.walker@npt.gov.uk


Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



1

Appendix 1

EDUCATION, SKILLS AND CULTURE CABINET BOARD
Leisure and Culture Scrutiny Sub Committee

5th September 2019

Pontardawe Arts Centre 

Business Plan  

(Income Generation Plan)

Action Plan Priorities Progress

T
udalen25



2

Financial Performance 2018-19:

rts Centre venue operating costs.  
   

Actual
2017-18

Estimate
2018-19

Actual
2018-19

Total Income (£136,256) (£216,678) (£239,985)

Total Expenditure £381,095 £437,786 £461,027

Nett Expenditure £244.839 £221.108 £221,041

Bar Profit (£11,888) (£15,334) (£22,875)

Artistic Programme funded by the Arts Council for Wales  profit        
                

(£12,016) (£5,000) (£8,701)

Total Subsidy £220,935 £200,774 £189,466T
udalen26



3

Action Plan: Update

Priority Actions Contribution to 
reducing subsidy

UPDATE

RAG Rating

Arts Council for Wales 
Revenue Support 
Grant

Deliver Programme as per revenue 
support funding agreement 2018-19.

AD Salary £10k
Technician Salary 
£5k

Annual review 
undertaken in 
January 19 and 
resulting in 
maintenance of 
revenue funding 
of £63,197.  

Programme Review The review was completed and the 
new commercial programming 
philosophy will ensure that the 
Centre’s offer will secure increased 
footfall, and income.

2018-19
Estimated 
subsidy 
Reduction.
£20K as per FFP

2018/19
Actual 
Subsidy
Reduction
£31k

Participation 
Programme

Review the current programme to 
establish whether pricing and time 
slots are appropriate. This will result in 
development of a suite of 
performance indicators that will be 
regularly monitored.

£1k   Income figures
2017/18
 £19,621

2018/19
£21,400

Children’s Theatre A more targeted programme for 
children particularly children’s theatre, 
film and participatory activities.

£1k Partnership with 
Mess Up the Mess 
Theatre Company 
funded through 
the Leader 
programme to 

T
udalen27



4

take place 
Sep19 – Aug 20 

Youth 
Engagement 
programme will 
include a Youth 
led programming 
youth which will 
feed into this 
initiative

Young people Develop activities targeted at younger 
audiences, such as Battle of the Bands, 
dance / drama groups.

As above

Music programming Trial music events that are more 
targeted at teens and young people in 
their early twenties. This will be a risk 
as it is a new audience, possibly a joint 
programme with the Friends group in 
the beginning to help it become an 
established genre.

£1k We didn’t find any 
appropriate music 
for youth in this 
period
This is something 
which will be 
explored with the 
youth forum  
being established

Film Programming Cater more for children and families. 
New releases during half term and 
school holidays.

£2.5k 2018/19 
£20,723 income 
achieved 

Review Staffing Linked to the proposed Capital £8k As part of 

T
udalen28



5

Structure investment from ACW which will 
necessitate a Business Consultant to 
look at entire PAC operation

consultancy by 
Richard Newton 
funded via ACW a 
proposal has been 
made for a 
revised staffing 
structure to 
support the 
extended 
programme when 
the cinema is built

Volunteer Scheme Increase volunteer scheme particularly 
when there is no Receptionist on duty. 
Volunteers will be available to advise 
on programme and purchase of tickets

£10k (In kind) Total volunteer 
hours 930
Value to PAC
£7,440

Application has 
been put in to 
Mynydd y Betws 
to support a part 
time Volunteer 
coordinator to 
undertake a 
recruitment 
campaign and 
induct a fresh 
tranche of 
volunteers
Volunteering is 
also part of the 
Youth Initiative 
Programme.

Licenced Bar The bar will work towards increased £4k Bar Profit

T
udalen29



6

profit margins and will increase 
events.  Including introducing  Street 
Food Fridays to be programmed 
monthly after September, Open Day 
and Friend’s Social Events

2017/18 
£11,788  

2018/189  
£22,875 

Expand Hire Increased promotion for availability of 
hire of rooms for training and 
conferencing and private events. 

£1k Income.
2017/18
£20,676

2018/19 
£30,612

Exhibitions & Gallery 
space

Review the use of the gallery space. £0.5k achieved

Friends of Pontardawe 
Arts Centre 

Work together with the Friends to 
raise awareness of the venue locally 
and to promote the venue – 
particularly the hire of facilities. 
Encourage businesses to sponsor 
specific shows and events.

£2.5k Matched funding 
of £1k to purchase 
tech equipment 
for studio.
Resulted in a  £4k 
grant from 
Mynydd y Betws 

Contributed £2k 
towards The 
Leader Project,

£2k towards 
Mynyd y 
Betwsproject

£465 to purchase 

T
udalen30



7

upholstery 
cleaner from 
Pontardawe 
Town Council.

£540 from 
Councillor 
Community fund 
to purchase 
crowd  barriers

Marketing Develop a robust marketing plan, to 
include the increased use of social 
media, link with the authorities media 
section to increase exposure Review 
the format of the brochure as a 
marketing tool.   

£5k Marketing will be 
reviewed in line 
with 
recommendations 
included in the RN 
report

Introduce Business 
Club  Sponsorship 
Scheme 

Utilising the venue and Friend’s 
contacts promote and develop a 
sponsorship scheme in which in return 
for financial investment sponsors are 
given no cost and varying value of 
promotion via existing outlets (eg 
inclusion in website, brochures, pre- 
film screenings and flat screens within 
bar.

£1k Sponsorship via 
Friends
Peter Lynn and 
Partners funded 
external display 
boards(£721) 

Charlos and 
Tamarind 
donations 
towards tickets 
(£550)

Explore donations easyfundraising.org.uk  allows £0.5k Explored but 

T
udalen31



8

from online shopping 
and search engines

charities and non-profit organisations 
to sign up to raise either a small 
donation, or percentage of money 
spent, when supporters use the links 
given to shop with major online 
retailers. 

proved not 
possible. 

User/Non user Survey In partnership with the Friends group 
carry out a user and non-user survey.

Survey to be via Survey Monkey which 
will better enable the figures to be 
examined and analysed.  Participants 
accessed on line, in venue and via 
attendance at town events over the 
summer months 

Target of 300 users and 100 non users

Online survey 
Undertaken in 
2018 with 428 
respondents.

Identified many 
opportunities for 
audience 
development.

With suggestions 
for service 
improvement 
which will be 
addressed.

Film Club pricing Review film club pricing. Will be reviewed 
as part of the New 
Cinema 
Development.

Arts in Health Explore with ABMU the opportunity to 
support their Arts Strategy, in 
particular the Experience and 
Engagement stream through 
developing projects in Primary Care. 
This may include working with the 

No enthusiasm 
from Health side 
and without full 
partnership not 
possible

T
udalen32



9

third sector and social prescribing 
initiatives. 

RAG Rating
New Cinema To date the Authority has engaged with the Arts Council via 

its resilience programme, at no cost to the council. As a 
result of this initial feasibility study, which was 
commissioned and paid for by the Arts Council, we were 
invited to progress to stage 2. 

At this stage a business consultant was engaged, and 
presented his report to a joint meeting of Arts Council for 
Wales and Neath Port Talbot officers on the 22nd July 19. 

The consultant’s report identified the positive revenue 
impact of providing a 70 seater cinema at the Arts.  

The next stage is to appoint an architect to work up detailed 
designs. 

Revised Time Scale
October/Nov  19
Engagement of Architect

May 2020 – December 2020 Construction.

January 2021 Opening of the cinema.

New Cinema costs CMB Sept 11TH 2019 

T
udalen33



10

Building layout and 
flow.

Considered as part of the RN report circa £150k
Funding sources being investigated.

T
udalen34



11

The Friends of Pontardawe Arts Centre Proposed Action Plan for 2018/9 

Actions

RAG Rating
Recruit beneficial support skills for FPAC
Register FPAC with the Charity Commission (submitted)
Prepare FPAC accounts for YE 31 Dec 2018
Aim to increase current membership & retain all members for 2019
Secure sponsorship/ patronage support & income from individuals/ businesses
Scrutinise any future NPTCBC budget proposals & lobby as required
Assist in increasing attendance at the Arts Centre including through promoting use
Work in conjunction with NPTCBC to prepare a 3 year business plan based on local 
community feedback.
Identify areas of practical support/ advice to PAC following preparation of a business 
plan & user/non user research. 

Work in conjunction with NPTCBC to support  grant aid applications  for priority 
capital & revenue projects at PAC  including  possible  cinema pod  and external 
atrium

T
udalen35



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

EDUCATION, SKILLS AND CULTURE CABINET BOARD

Leisure and Culture Scrutiny Sub Committee
5th September 2019

REPORT OF HEAD OF TRANSFORMATION
ANDREW THOMAS

MATTER: FOR INFORMATION 

WARDS AFFECTED: All

NEW WELSH GOVERNMENT FREE SWIMMING INITIATIVE.

1. Purpose of the Report 
1.1 To advise Members on the changes to the Welsh 

Government Free Swimming Initiative (FSI).

2. Executive Summary
2.1 Sport Wales commissioned an independent review of 

Free Swimming in Wales (UK Research and 
Consultancy Services Ltd), on behalf of Welsh 
Government. The review has recommended significant 
changes to the scheme. (Provided as background 
paper)

2.2 Welsh Government Free Swimming Initiative “FSI a 
new approach”, is appended as Appendix 1

3. Background 
3.1 Free swimming in Wales was introduced in 2003. At 

the time, it was the first national free swimming 
programme. It aimed to increase participation among 
young people (aged 16 and under), and older people 
(aged 60 plus). Free swimming is funded by the Welsh 
Government and delivered by local authorities, and 
since 2005 it has been managed by Sport Wales.

3.2 To date the scheme was subject to minimum criteria:-

Tudalen37

Eitem yr Agenda6



Under 16 provision:
14 hours of free swimming per week per Local 
Authority area during all school holidays, of which a 
minimum of 7 hours would be structured aquatic 
activities.

60+ provision:
As a minimum, this includes free swimming for adults 
aged 60 and over during all public swimming sessions 
outside school holidays. Local Authorities are 
encouraged to extend the provision to all public 
sessions throughout the year where this is possible.

A minimum of 1 hour per day per Local Authority, and a 
minimum of 1 hour per week per pool, will be dedicated 
to a free structured instructor lead activity session such 
as swimming lessons, aqua aerobics etc. These 
activities should be targeted locally and ensure 
inclusive provision for older people, such as:

3.3 Celtic Leisure has traditionally provided a range of 
structured activities and free splash sessions above the 
minimum requirement. 

3.4 As referred to in 1.1 an independent review of Free 
Swimming has been completed, the review has 
recommended significant changes to the scheme.

3.5 The review has recommended the continuation of the 
Free Swimming scheme, although the outcome 
requires Local Authorities to deliver in a more targeted 
way. The scheme will continue to provide free 
swimming opportunities for all young people under 16-
years of age, and every person aged over 60. 

3.6 Sport Wales expect the balance between the provision 
for U16 and Over 60s to be addressed, with clear 
prioritisation of provision being given to u16’s.  

3.7 Sport Wales have acknowledged that the pattern of 
service provision will change, and this is most likely to 

Tudalen38



result in changes to the access arrangements for the 
60 plus age group.  

3.8 Sport Wales have advised that they envisage that the 
most likely scenarios for the 60 plus age group will be 
that free access in the main will be limited to weekend 
and/or off peak times or a subsidised rate at more 
popular times. 

3.9 Sport Wales have said they will expect there to be free 
provision for over 60’s, but this may be alongside a 
subsidised offer for those who wish to access the 
scheme on a more frequent or regular basis.

3.10 Under the new scheme, a minimum criteria will not be 
set as a mandate for all Local Authorities, but there is a 
clear expectation from Sport Wales that for U16 this 
will be at least one free splash session on weekends in 
each of the pools, and at least 2 additional sessions 
per week in addition to the weekend offer during the 
summer holidays. 

3.11. Celtic Leisure will be submitting their new Free 
Swimming Plan based on the new guidelines to Sport 
Wales for approval, as a condition of the grant. This 
document is appended as appendix 2

4. Financial Impact 
4.1 The payment to Celtic Leisure for the Free Swimming 

Scheme is supported by grant funding received from 
the Welsh Government (via Sport Wales). The council 
is only liable to pay Celtic Leisure the actual sum 
received from the Welsh Government. 

4.2 In recent years the annual grant received has been 
£151,500. The whole grant minus circa £15k, paid to 
NPT College group, for delivering free swimming at 
Cymmer pool, has been paid to Celtic Leisure.

4.3 Sport Wales have advised that from October 2019 the 
annual grant will be reduced by 50% to £75,500 as a 
result of the new delivery criteria.

Tudalen39



5. Integrated Impact Assessment 
5.1 There is no requirement to undertake an Integrated 

Impact Assessment as this report is for monitoring / 
information purposes.

5.2 Sport Wales completed a national impact assessment 
which is provided as background paper.

6. Valleys Communities Impacts
6.1 There is no implications as this report is for monitoring / 

information purposes. 

7. Workforce Impacts
7.1 There are no workforce issues associated with this 

report.  

8. Legal Impacts
8.1 There are no legal impacts associated with this report.

9. Risk Management
9.1 There are no risk management issues associated with 

this report.  

11  Consultation
11.1 There is no requirement under the Constitution for 

external consultation on this item.

      12  Recommendation
 12.1 The report is for Information only.

13. Reasons for Proposed Decision 
13.1 The report is for Information only.

14. Implementation of Decision
14.1 The report is for Information only. 

   15 Appendices 
Appendix 1: Free Swimming Initiative (FSI) – a new 
approach.

Appendix 2: Celtic Leisure free swimming plan 2019 -
20

Tudalen40



16.List of Background Papers
1. UK Research and Consultancy Services Ltd 

“A Review of Free Swimming in Wales”

2. Sport Wales Impact Assessment

Officer Contact
Paul Walker, 
Operations Coordinator
01639 861107
 p.walker@npt.gov.uk 

Tudalen41

mailto:p.walker@npt.gov.uk


Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



1 
 

 

Free Swimming in Wales: 
A Review 

 

 

 UK Research and Consultancy Services 
Ltd 

 

UKRCS 
 

July 2018 
 

 

 

  

Tudalen43



2 
 

Foreword   

It has been a privilege for us to undertake this review of Wales’ free swimming programmes.  

They have been an important and longstanding intervention designed to encourage young 

people and those aged 60 and over to swim, with a particular focus in the later years on 

those who are less likely to learn to swim, on disadvantaged communities, and on people 

with disabilities. 

We have been assisted ably and patiently by the officers of Sport Wales, by a Project 

Steering Group, and by the many individuals who agreed to be interviewed or participate in 

workshops, or complete our online survey.  They have provided a wide range of in-depth 

evidence which underpins our analysis, and we thank them sincerely for their valuable 

input.  They obviously bear no responsibility for our conclusions and recommendations. 

As will be seen in the body of this report, we consider that the time has come to re-think the 

purpose, focus and delivery of the free swimming programmes in Wales.  It is time to 

change, but not to forget the value that has been achieved through these programmes 

hitherto.  Change should be done in ways which can build on the positive difference that the 

current offer has made to the many individuals and communities who have made use of 

them.  Wales’ national wellbeing objectives now provide a key point of reference for future 

development.    

July 2018 

 
UKRCS Review Team:  
Dr Clive Grace (Review Director)  
Dr Nicola Bolton, Sandra Harris and Professor Steve Martin (UKRCS Steering Group) 
Sally Church, Aled Eurig, Becca Mattingley, Dr Alex McInch, Liam Whittington (Research 
Delivery Group) 

 
 

UKRCS is a consultancy which operates as a social enterprise partnership between its 
founders and a wide range of Associates. We undertake reviews, evaluations and research 

studies across the broad field of public and community services, in both the UK and 
internationally.  For more information see our web site www.ukrcs.uk  or contact:  

sandra.harris@ukrcs.uk 
  

Tudalen44

http://www.ukrcs.uk/
mailto:sandra.harris@ukrcs.uk


3 
 

 

 

Contents 

 

Foreword………………………….......…………………………………………………….2 
 
Executive Summary………….…………………………………………………………..4 
 
Section 1: The Promise of Free Swimming………………..……………………8 
 
Section 2: Methods and Evidence.……………………………………………..….9 
 
Section 3: Background and Current Operation…………………………….11 
 
Section 4: Findings………………………………………………………………………23 
 
Section 5: Conclusions and Options…………………………………………..…47 
 
Glossary and Acronyms……………………………………………………………….58 
 
References 
 
 
 

  

Tudalen45



4 
 

Executive Summary 

The operation of free swimming: Free swimming in Wales was introduced in 2003.  At the 

time, it was the first national free swimming programme.  It aimed to increase participation 

among young people (aged 16 and under), and older people (aged 60 plus). Free swimming 

is funded by the Welsh Government and delivered by local authorities and since 2005 it has 

been managed by Sport Wales.  The two programmes have been reviewed periodically over 

the last fifteen years and have developed and changed to place a greater emphasis on 

learning to swim and the needs of deprived communities.   

 

Since 2010, free swimming has formed part of annual local authority partnership 

agreements (LAPAs) that set out action plans for sport and physical activity.  These integrate 

swimming with a broader aquatics offer and have a greater focus on achieving the goal of 

‘Every Child a Swimmer’. The minimum criteria and funding formula have also both been 

revised. Local authorities now receive the grant based on a combination of population size 

and deprivation levels subject to the delivery of a minimal level of free swimming. Sport 

Wales has been an active steward of free swimming since the transfer of responsibility for 

delivery of the scheme to them in 2005. However, there is no performance related element 

to the grant aid and no realistic incentives or sanctions to ensure accountability. 

 

The numbers: The free swimming programmes had significant initial success in increasing 

participation in both their target groups.  The number of ‘free splash’ swims by young 

people rose from under 400,000 to 800,000 in 2004/2005, and most of the increase was 

maintained thereafter for several years. The number of ‘free splash’ sessions by older 

people also increased rapidly, reaching 600,000 and remaining fairly steady thereafter. 

Structured swims for young people also increased and reached 94,000 by 2009/2010, and 

for older people they also rose, in this case to 104,000 in 2013/14. 

 

However, in later years the numbers of free splash swims by young people has dropped off 

dramatically, falling to just 145,000 by 2016/17, and with the number of free structured 

swims also declining significantly.  For older people the number of free structured swims 

also declined, but less so. These reductions were not the result of any decline in popularity 

of swimming amongst either the general or the two target populations, nor is it explained by 

the relatively modest decline in the number of public swimming pools.  And paid swims 

increased from 300,000 to 400,000 from 2009/2010 to 2016/2017.   

 

What has changed, however, is the number of available free swimming sessions, which has 

reduced markedly whilst the number of participants per session has held up much better.  

We assess that the steep decline in the number of free swims by young people is largely the 

result of local authorities reducing the number of hours of free swimming that they offer in 

response to a combination of increased pressure on mainstream leisure budgets, changes in 

Tudalen46



5 
 

the free swimming minimum criteria, a shift in emphasis towards free swimming for older 

people, and reductions in the overall funding and changes to the funding formula. 

 

The cost of free swimming: The two programmes collectively currently cost £3m p.a. in 

grant distributed.  Funding is a ring-fenced element of Sport Wales’ grant in aid from the 

Welsh Government and is distributed according to a Welsh Government funding formula.  It 

is intended to reimburse local authorities for income they forego as a result of the 

requirement to offer free swimming sessions, but this is a notional calculation only.  Our 

analysis is that, in practice, between 2008/2009 and 2016/2017 local authorities received a 

total of £28.7m in grant aid as against a best estimate that the total notional income 

foregone during the same period was around £29.2m on an inflation adjusted basis.  So 

there is broad equivalence between grant distributed and the maximum possible income 

foregone, even assuming that every free swim would have been paid for at a full rate.   

 

However, our estimate of the actual current costs of providing free swimming by local 

authorities is a maximum of £1.5m. p.a., which is half of the actual grant in aid that local 

authorities currently receive. In practice many local authorities have come to rely on the 

grants as an income line and it is very difficult to link actual expenditure to specific results 

and performance.   

 

Stakeholder views:  Users value the free swimming programmes and are clear that they 

wish to see them continue, although some question whether focusing on young and older 

people and on just swimming is the most cost-effective way to increase physical activity and 

improve health and wellbeing.  Local authorities and Swim Wales also value free swimming, 

and wish to see it continued. 

 

Sport Wales, Swim Wales, the WLGA and some other local and national bodies have doubts 

about whether free swimming is fit for the future, and many believe that there is a need for 

change.  Concerns about delivery of the programmes focus on the lack of incentives and 

sanctions available to encourage better performance, and the absence of any monitoring of 

outcomes (as opposed to monitoring the numbers of free swims).  Concerns about the 

scope of the current offer centre on whether an exclusive focus on swimming and on the 

two target groups is the best way to achieve physical activity and broader health and 

wellbeing objectives.  However, the major national stakeholders have very different views 

on the best way forward. 

 

Conclusions: Both programmes generated significant initial increases in participation levels 

among both target groups, and this has been sustained for older people.    Free swimming 

has adapted to broader policy changes over time, and some local authorities have 

demonstrated an ability to implement it effectively where there is good leadership and a 

clear vision of how it can work as part of a wider aquatics plan.  However, the evidence 

Tudalen47



6 
 

suggests that the current approach to free swimming is not the most cost-effective way to 

use the £3m. p.a. allocated to it.  The current investment in free swimming does not 

represent best return on investment, or make the biggest contribution to increasing levels 

of activity.  Several core features of how free swimming operates in the current financial 

climate and policy context mean that it is no longer fit for purpose.  In particular it is not 

serving the equalities’ and the wellbeing objectives of the Welsh Government or of Sport 

Wales effectively.  In relation to older people (which target group now gets a much larger 

share of the overall resources than initially) more than 80% of the resources are devoted to 

only the 6% of those who are 60 plus who swim.  This is not therefore a ‘universal benefit’. 

There is a need for change to be considered in the: 

• Way free swimming is performance managed at all levels from the Welsh 

Government, Sport Wales and local authorities, and other potential partners 

including Swim Wales; 

• Choice of target groups; and 

• Alignment of free swimming and subsidised physical activity with broader sport 

policy, and health and wellbeing objectives. 

 

Options:  We suggest three indicative options ranging from relatively minor improvements 

in the way the programmes are managed and delivered to a fundamental re-thinking of their 

purpose and focus.  Whichever option is adopted, it should be shaped with explicit reference 

to the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015, and to the wellbeing objectives of the 

Welsh Government and of Sport Wales, and their partners in any new scheme. 

 

Option A would focus on the same target groups but introduce changes to ensure more 

effective delivery and stronger accountability for achieving broader policy and wellbeing 

objectives as opposed only to activities. This would involve: 

• Retaining public subsidy for free swimming; 

• Continuing to focus provision on young people and on older people; but 

• Strengthening the delivery of the programmes through improved accountability for 

achievement of outcomes and better national marketing of the programmes. 

 

Option B would introduce new target groups, retain a strong element of swimming, and 

also include related activities and life skills, linked to broader policy and wellbeing 

objectives.  This option would involve: 

• Retaining some public subsidy for free swimming; 

• Changing or broadening the target groups;  

• Adding the provision of related activities and life skills; and 

• Delivering the new programmes through a funding formula linked to agreed national 

and local aquatics strategies or via a challenge fund to which local authorities and 

others bid for funding. 

 

Tudalen48



7 
 

Option C would integrate swimming with a broader range of sports and physical 

recreation linked to broader policy and wellbeing objectives.  This would involve: 

• Continued recognition of the value of physical activity in improving health and 

wellbeing and public subsidy to incentivise participation by vulnerable individuals 

and groups; 

• An acceptance that swimming should not be privileged over other beneficial physical 

activities; and 

• Funding to enable local authorities and other partners to develop integrated 

interventions to encourage both swimming and a range of other forms of physical 

activity. 

 

Our assessment is that the greatest public value from the investment is much more likely to 

be found in Options B and C or some variant thereof.  Both options would need to be 

accompanied by: 

• Greater clarity of purpose, with interventions designed to achieve explicit objectives 

and underpinned by evidence-based theories of change; 

• Sufficient flexibility to allow local authorities and others to design interventions 

most likely to address local needs and priorities;  

• Robust performance monitoring of outputs and outcomes (rather than inputs and 

activities) linked explicitly to the vision for sport and national health and wellbeing 

objectives; and, 

• Effective arrangements to encourage identification, sharing and promotion of good 

practice. 
 

  

Tudalen49



8 
 

Section 1: The Promise of Free Swimming 

Free swimming in Wales has been a long standing and substantial policy intervention.  In 

2003, the Welsh Government introduced free swimming for young people (aged 16 and 

under) particularly in the school holidays, and for older people (aged 60 plus) which focused 

on school term time swimming.  Public funding of £3m.+ a year was set aside with the aim of 

stimulating a significant increase in swimming initially through ‘free splash’ sessions but with 

an increased emphasis on structured aquatic activities in later years.   

 

The case for free swimming is compelling. It is a very popular participation sport with fairly 

broad reach and significant latent demand (i.e. more people would like to swim or to swim 

more often than they currently do).  This has been confirmed in the results of Sport Wales’ 

Sport and Active Lifestyles Survey 2016-171. Moreover, increasing the frequency of 

swimming uses expensive public capital investment in pools more intensively at low 

marginal cost.  And swimming is a core life skill which enables people to access a wide range 

of other aquatic sports and activities, increases personal safety (reducing deaths from 

drowning), and is known to have a range of benefits in terms of health and wellbeing. 

Potentially it is especially valuable for people with disabilities and to those experiencing 

issues with the onset of the ageing process.   

  

Yet many policy makers, sport bodies, and those who deliver free swimming have doubts 

about how it is currently delivered and question whether it offers value for money. Their 

concerns include whether free swimming is reaching the right people, the level of 

‘substitution effects’ in the programmes (they believe that significant numbers of people 

accessing free swimming would swim just as often in the absence of public subsidy), and the 

reduction in the volume of free swimming by young people. 

 

The concerns are amplified by some significant changes in the broader policy environment 

in the fifteen years since free swimming was introduced.  There is now much greater 

pressure on public expenditure in Wales.   Furthermore, the public expenditure squeeze 

alongside the discretionary nature of leisure spending has led to major reductions in local 

authority leisure provision - with some pools closing and many transferring out of direct 

local authority control.  There is also now a much greater emphasis on embracing the 

contribution that physical activity (not just sport) can make to broader health and wellbeing 

objectives.  In light of these developments Sport Wales and the Welsh Government signalled 

that it was time to review the programmes and test their effectiveness and their impact. 

 

 

                                                           
1  Sport Wales, Sport and Active Lifestyles Survey 2016-17, Cardiff, Sport Wales, 2017. 
 

Tudalen50



9 
 

Section 2: Methods and Evidence 

Sport Wales and the Welsh Government commissioned this external review to consider 

programme effectiveness and help shape and steer the future strategy for community sport 

in Wales.   The review was overseen by a Steering Group comprising representatives of Sport 

Wales, Welsh Government, Swim Wales, and the Chief Leisure Officers of Wales.  It was 

asked to: 

 

• Consider the contribution of free swimming to community sport and physical activity, 

as well as their impact across a number of Welsh Government priorities and 

wellbeing objectives. 

• Determine whether the programmes have achieved their stated outcomes for 

children, young people and older adults and whether they can achieve a greater 

impact on sport and physical activity participation levels.  

 

To answer these questions we collected a wide range of data, including drawing out the 

findings of previous research on free swimming programmes in Wales.  We also examined a 

series of related issues, including: 

• The changing profile in the numbers of free swims over the course of the 

programmes, and the reasons for reductions and changes in the use of free 

swimming, especially by young people. 

• The views of key stakeholders including those of users, deliverers, and national 

stakeholders. 

• The ‘cost’ of free swimming in terms of Welsh Government grant aid but also the 

actual cost to local authorities, and also to what extent cost is a barrier to 

participation.  

• The equalities’ impact of the programmes, including the impact on those with 

protected characteristics. 

• How the programmes compare across the success factors which have been 

previously identified in studies of free swimming, including: 

• Clear guidance about the objectives of free swimming programmes; 

• Effective marketing of free swimming programmes; 

• Funding mechanisms which allow free swimming to be tailored to local contexts; 

• Monitoring and evaluation which facilitates accountability;  

• The development of effective partnerships between the funders and agencies 

responsible for delivery; and 

• Maximising the synergies with other policies and programmes and especially the 

relationship of free swimming to ‘learn to swim’ and the school curriculum. 

 

To examine these issues, we analysed existing data and gathered a wide range of views from 

stakeholders at both local and national level.  We deployed a series of research methods: 

Tudalen51



10 
 

 

• Assembling and analysis of substantial public documents and data sets, and an 

extensive literature review including grey literature; 

• Interviews and workshops with local authorities and a wide range of other 

stakeholders.  There were 40+ interviews and 37 participants in 3 workshops (in 

Cardiff, Swansea and Llandudno) and a session with the Board of Swim Wales. ; 

• Case studies of five local authorities plus a constructed ‘avatar’ local authority that 

displayed less positive features; 

• Analysis of local authorities’ plans in order to assess variations in local approaches; 

• Analysis of the ‘cost’ of free swimming using a range of different assumptions; 

• Specific analyses of connections between free swimming and other key policy areas 

and issues, including the curriculum, and other issues such as marketing and 

promotion; and 

• An on-line survey available to all with an interest in free swimming. 

Our coverage of stakeholders is indicated in the Table below: 

 

 

We have presented the review through a description of the background, development, and 

current operation of the programmes (Section 3), our findings (Section 4), and our 

conclusions and suggestions for optional ways forward (Section 5). Our working papers and 

further details of the methodology are available from RCS.2 

  

                                                           
2 See contact details at the Foreword. 

Funders and policy 
interest

Welsh 
Government

Sport Wales

Frontline operators: 
Local Authorities and  

Leisure Trusts

Strategic leisure 
managers

Facility and 
operations 
managers

Sports Sector

Swim Wales

Welsh Sports 
Association

Club 
representatives

Free Swim Users

16 and under 

60+ 

Other individuals 
with interest in  
free swimming 

Other

Data Unit

Interested 
stakeholder 

groups

Tudalen52



11 
 

Section 3: Background, Development and Current Operation 
 
Introduction    

Free swimming is a Welsh Government nationally funded programme involving the 

distribution of £3m. p.a. to local authorities by Sport Wales.  The total funding available was 

originally informed by an assessment of the notional ‘income foregone’ by local authorities 

and related to the number of ‘free’ swims that were anticipated.  Funding was initially 

allocated by direct grant to local authorities according to a population formula.  Since 

2015/16 the formula has also taken into account deprivation and there has been an added 

focus on ‘Learn to Swim’. Funding is triggered by submission of local authority plans that 

must provide specified minimum levels of free swims for young people aged 16 and under 

and older people aged 60 plus, and form part of a broader plan that delivers the aquatics 

pathway in line with the aspiration to achieve “Every Child a Swimmer”. In this section we 

describe the background, development, and current operation of the two free swimming 

programmes and the way in which Sport Wales has managed them. 

 

Background   

The Free Swimming Initiative was launched by the Welsh Government in 2003 and was 

Europe’s first national free swimming programme.  It began with a pilot with ten local 

authorities for young people during the school holidays, which was then extended in 2004 to 

all 22 Welsh local authorities.  In late 2004, free swimming was also offered to older people 

at local authority pools outside of school holiday periods.  Whilst it has been linked to a 

range of policies and strategies over the following fourteen years, a core objective was and 

remains “to increase participation in physical activity and improve the health and wellbeing 

of the nation”.  The assumption has been that by removing cost many more citizens would 

be encouraged to swim and do so more often, suggesting that cost is a major barrier to 

swimming. 

 

Free swimming was seen as contributing to the broader policy set out in ‘Climbing Higher’3 

which suggested that adults should take at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity exercise 

five times a week and that children should participate in 60 minutes of physical activity five 

times a week. The provision of free swimming as a ‘universal’ benefit was in keeping with a 

range of other Welsh Government initiatives that provided free services including, for 

example, free prescriptions.   

 

Alongside and (mainly) after the Welsh Government launched the Free Swimming Initiative 

in 2003, a number of national and local schemes were implemented in various parts of the 

United Kingdom. The largest and most significant of these was the England Free Swimming 

Programme, but a number of small pilots delivered within a single local authority area were 

                                                           
3 Welsh Assembly Government, Climbing Higher, Cardiff, 2005. 

Tudalen53



12 
 

also implemented. Free swimming provision has been offered as a stand-alone public health 

intervention (i.e. an initiative which is not part of a formal ‘package’ of measures), or as one 

component of broader programmes designed to encourage physical activity and healthy 

lifestyles.  Most of these schemes have ended or radically reduced in scope since 2010, 

often associated with large scale public expenditure reductions. 

 

Development of free swimming in Wales   

Free swimming achieved significant initial success in increasing the number of swims among 

both target groups.  Increases among older people have been largely sustained but the 

numbers of free swims by young people declined steeply from 2010 onwards.  We explore 

the reasons below, in Section 4.  

 

Free swimming has undergone significant change over time.  In particular, the minimum 

provision for young people has changed and there has been an increased emphasis on 

structured activities for both age groups and, since 2015, on ‘Every Child a Swimmer’.  Prior 

to 2011, local authorities were required to provide free swimming for young people in 

school holidays “for a minimum of 50% of all public swimming session times across the 

authority area”.  From 2010/11, they had to offer “14 hours of free swimming per week per 

Local Authority area during all school holidays, of which a minimum of 7 hours would be 

structured aquatic activities”.    

 

The minimum criteria for ‘splash’ sessions for older people remained the same and covers 

all public swimming sessions outside school holidays.  But there was an increased emphasis 

on structured activities, such as swimming lessons, disability sessions, aquafit classes, 

canoeing, lifesaving and multi-sport sessions, for both target groups.  In addition, multi-

sports opportunities and dry side activities became an eligible part of the free swimming 

offer, and provision for young people was extended to cover weekends as well as school 

holidays.  These are seen as more likely than ‘free splash’ sessions to equip participants with 

the motivation, confidence and skills to participate in swimming and other aquatic activities.  

However, instructor/participant ratios, pool capacity and the availability and cost of 

employing or upskilling suitable instructors restrict the numbers who can participate.   

 

Also in 2010, the funding for free swimming was included in individual annual local authority 

partnership agreements (LAPAs) that set out how free swimming is incorporated with wider 

sports development priorities (including swimming provision) and other funding streams.  

This strengthened the trend for local authorities to have much greater discretion in how the 

grant was deployed. 

 

Current operation  

Tudalen54



13 
 

The current operation of the free swimming programmes is best understood in terms of the 

policy context and the swimming landscape in which it operates, and also Sport Wales’ 

stewardship of the scheme and the delivery arrangements in local authorities.   

 

Policy context: The current policy context for free swimming is set out by the Welsh 

Government in Taking Wales Forward4.  Free swimming is seen as contributing to achieving 

a Healthy and Active Wales as part of the broader goals of the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act 20155.  Getting Wales Moving 6 states that “increasing levels of physical 

activity will be a key component of achieving the ambitions within the…Act”.  Sport Wales’ 

remit letter from the Welsh Government defines free swimming as a dedicated budget line 

and sets out criteria for distribution of the grant. 

 

Swimming in Wales:  As noted above, young people’s participation in free swimming has 

declined in recent years, but the School Sport Survey shows that, in common with most 

sports, the overall numbers participating in swimming have increased since 2011.  

Swimming also remains popular among adults with around 358,000 participants in Wales, 

14% of those aged 16 and over7, although this reduces to about 6%8 amongst the 60 plus 

age group. Only walking and exercise activities have higher participation rates. Paid swims 

for those aged over 16 peaked in 2011-12 at almost 2 million9 and paid swims as a whole 

have remained largely steady over the past decade, but with a 16% increase in 2016/2017.  

National surveys also show that latent demand for swimming continues to be higher than 

for any other sport. 

 

The number of swimming pools has reduced slightly.  Seventeen have closed in the last ten 

years but eight have opened or re-opened following major refurbishments.  There are 

currently 12010 local authority pools in Wales including traditional ‘lane’ pools and leisure 

pools with flumes and fun activity areas, and 84 pools operated by hotels, spas, private 

fitness providers, and further and higher education establishments.   

   

Sport Wales’ stewardship of free swimming:   Sport Wales has been an active steward of 

free swimming.   Responsibility for the delivery of free swimming transferred from Welsh 

Government to Sport Wales in 2005. Sport Wales introduced a menu of additional Upskilling 

Programmes for local authorities to draw on to strengthen their capacity to manage and 

deliver free swimming.  They also commissioned a review which led to the revision of the 

                                                           
4 Welsh Government, Taking Wales Forward 2016-2021, Cardiff, 2016. 
5 https://futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/ 
6 Public Health Wales and Sport Wales, Getting Wales Moving, Cardiff, 2017. 
7 Sport Wales, Sport and Active Lifestyles Survey 2016-17, Cardiff, 2017. 
8 This figure equates to some 49,000 people and was calculated by the Sport Wales Insight Team from Sport 
and Active Lifestyles Wales 2016-17 and Statistics Wales Mid-Year population estimates for 2016 
9 This is from the Data Unit figures  
10 Information provided by Sport Wales and Swim Wales 

Tudalen55

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffuturegenerations.wales%2Fabout-us%2Ffuture-generations-act%2F&data=02%7C01%7C%7C80fdb5b0acc74c9bf24108d5cd59823d%7C84df9e7fe9f640afb435aaaaaaaaaaaa%7C1%7C0%7C636640706671155349&sdata=mbLAUgT7gsQu4eBbN0%2BKylr96vvOeP674qdMDd5CqR0%3D&reserved=0


14 
 

free swimming criteria mentioned above.  The incorporation of free swimming delivery into 

the LAPAs was accompanied by a change of focus which required local authorities to focus 

“on what you achieve rather than where you spend the money”.  Across the period to 

2015/16 there was a series of initiatives to engage stakeholders and develop free swimming 

into a broader aquatics offer, including the introduction of Results Based Accounting, the 

development of aquatics plans, sharing best practice, and moving towards the goal of ‘Every 

Child a Swimmer’ by the age of 11. 

 

The reductions in expenditure on free swimming in 2015/16 prompted further re-thinking 

about the objectives of the programmes.  Sport Wales’ Impact Assessment of budget 

reductions concluded that even in high performing local authorities, on average a young 

person only accessed free swimming twice a year, and that in practice it was not accessible 

to the 25% of young people who are unable to swim. National survey data showed that 

people living in deprived areas were less likely to be swimmers, and it was concluded that 

there was a need for greater emphasis on targeted investment on learning to swim and on 

the swimming pathway for these groups. 

 

The current criteria introduced in 2015/16 for young people (aged 16 and under) require 

local authorities to provide: 

• 14 hours of free swimming per week per local authority area during all school 

holidays, of which at least seven hours must be structured aquatic activities;  

• one dedicated structured session for disabled children per week per local authority 

area during all school holidays; and 

• two hours of free swimming or a dry side activity per weekend per local authority 

area throughout the year. 

 

The criteria for older people are that local authorities: 

• are required to provide free swimming during all public swimming sessions outside of 

school holidays;  

• are encouraged to extend the provision to all public sessions throughout the year 

where this is possible; and   

• should offer a minimum of one hour per day per local authority of unstructured 

swimming, and a minimum of one hour per week per pool, dedicated to a free 

structured activity session such as swimming lessons, aqua aerobics etc. These 

activities should be targeted locally and ensure inclusive provision for older people, 

such as: people with a disability, black and ethnic minority groups, Welsh speakers 

and other individuals and groups according to local circumstances, needs and 

priorities.  

 

Tudalen56



15 
 

Plans developed by local authorities and agreed with Sport Wales are expected to provide 

details of Learn to Swim in each local authority area.  Other requirements are for the local 

authority to: 

• Demonstrate how any voluntary sector delivery of pools is being supported if 

appropriate (and, in practice, other pools including private ones);  

• Evidence the level of investment into each pool and why the resource has been 

allocated; and 

• Evidence how the Welsh Government’s free swimming investment is being used to 

support the delivery of the aquatics pathway. This should include how the local 

authority is improving the transition between school swimming, Learn to Swim, and 

aquatic club programmes. 

 

Sport Wales’ requirements also recognise that the injection of national grant aid creates a 

risk of ‘displacement’, and therefore include a number of prohibitions such that the scheme 

must not: 

• Displace the responsibility of schools to teach young people to swim;  

• Interfere with the commercial opportunities for local authority swimming pools to 

raise income from swimming lessons; and 

• Be used as an income line against swimming. 

 

The free swimming plans produced by local authorities are discussed and agreed with Sport 

Wales’ liaison officers, and monitored actively on a six monthly basis.  For example, the 

‘Active Gwent’ region’s KPIs for 2017/18 included: 

• Achievement of the minimum criteria of hours of provision for the two beneficiary 

groups;  

• Adoption of the Learn to Swim framework and associated targets;  

• Upskilling of teachers, coaches and volunteers;  

• Marketing;  

• Targeting of under-represented groups; and 

• Pool access. 

 

However, in practice, as long as a local authority meets the core minimum criteria in terms 

of hours of provision there are no incentives or sanctions available to Sport Wales to 

influence performance. Nor is there any performance related element to the grant itself, 

although some authorities do operate a degree of performance related budgeting between 

pools and leisure centres within their own compass.  

 

Delivery arrangements in local authorities:  In keeping with local prioritisation and a focus 

on results rather than specified activities, there is considerable diversity of approach and 

provision at local authority level.  Most local authority pools are now managed under arms’ 

length arrangements through leisure trusts, which in some places has shifted the ethos 

Tudalen57



16 
 

towards a greater focus on cost and return, and has sometimes added additional complexity 

to the accountability arrangements.  The core funding distributed to local authorities was 

initially divided between £2.4m. allocated to the young people programme and £1m. for the 

older people programme, plus a budget for marketing and promotion.  But there is now no 

distinction in the grants allocated to the two programmes so in practice local authorities 

deploy the grant in a wide variety of ways and with a much stronger weighting towards 

older people than previously.   

 

This in turn produces a wide range of results. Swansea, for example, has a relatively high 

number of free swims for both young people and older people, although in keeping with 

national trends this has declined in absolute terms amongst young people whilst the latter 

has remained relatively level.  For young people the number of free swims exceed those 

which are paid for.  In Bridgend, the young people free swim numbers are mid table but for 

the older age group it is the highest in the country.  Twice as many paid swims are taken 

than the number of free swims for young people.  Only 21% of Bridgend pupils at year 6 

appear to meet the national curriculum learn to swim standard, compared to 85% for 

Swansea11.  The contrast between two adjoining coastal authorities could hardly be more 

stark. 

 

In Powys the free swim numbers for both target groups are relatively low, and free swim 

numbers for young people have declined dramatically since 2011, and are down by more 

than 80%.  But the number of paid swims has held steady, such that by 2016/17 they stood 

at more than 10 times the current number of free swims by young people.  Yet interestingly, 

for Powys free swimming remains a “vital scheme” even though the “current grant doesn’t 

cover anywhere near what we provide and would like to provide.”   Anglesey, in contrast, 

has an unusually strong focus on free structured ‘swims’, and in 2015/16 there were four 

times as many free structured swims as free splashes. For the older age group there was 

also a high level of structured activities.  But by 2016/17 this had reduced, and there were 

three times as many paid swims as the number of free structured and free splash swims 

combined by young people.   

 

Blaenau Gwent has quite high numbers of free swims for young people relative to other 

local authorities, and low relative rates for older people, and with few structured swims for 

the former and very few for older people.  But it has a relatively high Learn to Swim level of 

73% for Year 6 pupils. 

 

The extent of variation is clear, and there are also variations between authorities in the 

extent to which local authorities target the needs of disabled people beyond the minimum 

required provision, how they engage with swimming lessons, the connection to any GP 

                                                           
11 However, the data are not entirely reliable as a result of wide variation in how it is collected and reported at 
local authority level, and so these figures must be treated with caution. 

Tudalen58



17 
 

referral schemes, and almost all other dimensions.   The examples below give a more 

detailed insights into these and other variations. 

 

Swansea has a population of 245,000 people, with 45,000 young people aged 16 and 

under and 61,000 adults aged 60 plus. The local authority operates 4 pools and the Wales 

National Pool offers free swimming for 60+. In the 2014 Welsh Index of Multiple 

Deprivation (WIMD), 18 (12%) of Swansea's 148 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA) were in 

the most deprived 10 per cent in Wales and with leisure centres other than the National 

Pool being based in areas of deprivation, free swimming is thought to have value as cost is 

considered a barrier for people in some parts of the authority. An adult public swim 

session in Swansea costs £2.90 (£3.76 Wales average) and £2.20 for juniors (£2.30). Paid 

swims have increased slightly in the last two years. 

 

Swansea’s budget was reduced in 2015/16, and like most LAs, swims for young people 

have fallen since 2012/13, although the LA had the 3rd highest rate of free public swims at 

409 per 1,000 population in 2016-17. Provision for ‘splash’ has been reduced and more 

emphasis has been placed on structured activities. Being a coastal authority, learning to 

swim and water safety is seen as paramount.  

 

Free public swims for 60+ have held up well over time and Swansea is currently ranked 7th 

with 848 swims per 1,000. Older adults are viewed as a prospective customer to target for 

other activities offered through leisure services. The health and wellbeing and social 

benefits of swimming for older adults are a positive outcome. Swimathon and friendship 

groups have developed among older adults from their free swimming participation. 

Taking into account deprivation and cost barriers, Swansea emphasises the targeting of 

resources and outreach work to focus on those excluded from participating. There are 

active links between leisure staff and sports development and schools for Learn to Swim, 

the BME forum and disability forums. In terms of any future development, flexibility in the 

age ranges covered may be beneficial: “We are getting more and more grandparents and 

looking at that linkage to engage with both young and old at the same times, rather than 

see them separately”. 

  

Free Swimming is considered worthwhile and useful: “It gives opportunities for all, but we 

have to get the message out from an equalities’ and inclusiveness point of view and target 

areas of inactivity - whether it is cultural as in poor/deprived areas of Swansea or culture 

of the family... The principles of it are still there – and perhaps we all need a challenge that 

it is a grant and not just a transaction, so we need to make the best use of it”. 

 

Blaenau Gwent has a population of 69,600 people, with 12,900 young people aged 16 

and under and 17,700 adults aged 60+. Since 2014, Aneurin Leisure have operated the 

three pools. Blaenau Gwent had the least change to its budget when there were 

Tudalen59



18 
 

reductions in 2015. The authority has a high level of deprivation and in the 2014 WIMD, 

23.4% of 47 LSOAs were in the most deprived 10 per cent in Wales. The price of an adult 

public swim session in Blaenau Gwent is £3.40 and £1.45 for juniors, lower than the 

average for Wales at £3.76 and £2.30 respectively. Paid swims for U17s have increased 

since 2015. 

  

With regards to 60 plus, participation rates per 1000 for splash and structured are in the 

lower third with 449 swims per 1,000 but considered to be rising due to links with the GP 

referral scheme. Over 60's have access to all public and adult only sessions in Aneurin 

Leisure swimming pools 39 weeks a year. 

 

Blaenau Gwent had the 8th highest rates of free public swims at 323 per 1,000 population 

for young people in 2016-17. However, free-splash is thought to be ‘much of a muchness’. 

Blaenau Gwent’s school Learn to Swim figures are strong - 73% of Year 6 pupils met the 

national curriculum standard in 2016/17. All 3 pools deliver entry level swimming lessons 

on the weekend for years 7, 8 & 9 pupils from deprived demographics to engage into the 

Learn to Swim pathway.  

 

Funding for workforce development was considered a problem. Blaenau Gwent’s plan 

shows that funding is allocated for part time swimming pathway mentors and volunteer 

development. The mentors will contribute to an aquatics pathway that links free 

swimming, LTS and exit routes into club swimming, but also bridge the gap between exit 

standards of the LTS programme and entry level of club swimming. Additional 

responsibilities will include developing volunteers through CPD, coach education and into 

employment, driving additional swimming lessons and increasing numbers and class 

capacity. Targeting of resources is evident and disability provision is in place across all 

pools. 

 

Dual use contracting was thought to be detrimental to effective delivery. Free Swimming 

had potential to have a positive impact in other policy domains, although the reporting of 

it was seen as invalid, with greater partnership working needed, especially with schools 

due to the strengths of physical literacy. Free Swimming is viewed as valuable but needs 

more structure.  

 

Powys has a population of 132,200 people, with 22,800 young people aged 16 and under 

and 44,400 adults aged 60 plus. Freedom Leisure operates 13 pools in Powys, the highest 

number of pools per local authority in Wales. 1.3% of Powys’ 79 LSOAs are in the most 

deprived 10 per cent in Wales.  

 

In 2015/16, Powys had the largest budget reduction of all LAs. The price of an adult public 

swim session in Powys is £4.60 and £3.20 for juniors, higher than the average for Wales. 

Tudalen60



19 
 

"The current grant doesn’t cover anywhere near what we provide and indeed, what we'd 

like to provide. We also find it very restrictive as it doesn’t give us the freedom to provide 

the opportunities that we'd like too in all pools at all times." 

 

Rural deprivation was considered the main barrier in this area. Powys had the third lowest 

rate of free public swims at 77 per 1,000 population for 16 and under in 2016-17 and in 

the lower half for 60 plus (672 swims per 1,000 for adults). However, the 60+ group were 

felt to participate strongly and really value the ‘free’ element – swimming being 

something they wouldn’t continue with if a cost was incurred. Free Swimming is thought 

to be valuable, especially as an educational tool for young people. As a result, a range of 

aquatic activities are offered. 70% of Powys Year 6 pupils met the required swimming 

standard in 2016/17.  

 

Powys staff reported strong links to other policy domains such as mental health and 

wellbeing, social inclusion. "It's a vital scheme for both target groups. There would be a 

huge noise if it was removed, especially for the 60 plus. We are rurally deprived here, and 

we have already cut back on their provision. Because of the spread of the authority it can 

be costly for people just to get to the facility". 

 

The annual grant cycle is seen as detrimental to the effectiveness of the delivery of the 

program and respondents thought FS should form an integral part of future sport 

strategy. More collaboration needed with the delivery/reporting of the program, for 

example with Swim Wales. 

 

Gwynedd has a population of 123,600 people, with 22,200 young people aged 16 and 

under and 35,100 adults aged 60+. There are eight pools, and the price of an adult public 

swim session is £3.50 and £2.40 for juniors.  

 

In the 2014 WIMD, 4.1% of Gwynedd’s 73 LSOAs were in the most deprived 10 per cent in 

Wales and Gwynedd had the largest reduction in budget in North Wales in 2015/16. 

Whereas there were very high numbers of swims in the early days of the scheme, these 

have fallen since the change in funding formula. “Rurality here is even more of a priority 

and the distance to travel – that wasn’t a factor in the change in funding of free 

swimming”. The numbers of public and structured swims per 1,000 population are now in 

the lower third for both age groups.  

 

Free splash is felt to work better in this area rather than free structured: “When we 

offered free structured classes, take up was very low. When we offered free structured 

classes for £1, take up increased. That gave us the message that people prefer to pay 

something, so they can see whether there is value in it. There is no ‘value’ in a free 

structured class: for the individual to see a value there has to be a heavily subsidised 

Tudalen61



20 
 

activity…It looks like we don’t do it but in fact it is just heavily subsidised. No appetite – 

what engages their parents is the free if a child is under 7 the parents go free and it was 

well used but unfortunately it was not part of free swimming” 

 

83% of Year 6 pupils in Gwynedd meet the standard although free swim is not perceived 

to contribute directly to the success of passing this test, as pass rates have remained 

around this level for the previous 10-15 years. Those who sign up for Learn to Swim can 

swim free at weekends anyway. The local authority works in partnership with schools and 

has good membership systems - this information tells them which young people are not 

getting access, and whether they come from deprived areas. “Commonly in deprived 

areas we put on additional targeted lessons as we know the numbers signing up and learn 

to swim rates are lower there compared with the population overall.  So that’s where free 

swim is used to top up”. 

 

An example of a successful outcome of free swimming was given: “There was one pool in 

quite a deprived area with not much use in 2003. There were questions about its future.  

By allowing free swim, the kids got engaged at that pool – 4 hours of provision. The pool 

has turned itself around and now is the best performing.  It now has a highly successful 

swimming club which is attributed to free swimming – people started coming in, enjoying 

themselves, then becoming more and more involved. Coming out of free swimming to 

learn to swim we now have a performance club for all. Free Swimming doesn’t underpin 

that sort of thing now”. 

 

Gwynedd’s grant now supports only the minimum levels of provision equally across all 8 

pools, whereas previously four hours per day were offered per pool, bringing in “fantastic 

numbers”. Looking to the future, if changes and flexibility are an option, Gwynedd would 

rebalance the criteria and provision towards young people and providing an enjoyable, 

free basic entitlement that is not overcomplicated by multiple objectives. 

 

Bridgend has a population of 143,200 people, with 27,400 young people aged 16 and 

under and 37,000 adults aged 60 plus. 10.2% of Bridgend’s 88 LSOAs are in the most 

deprived 10 per cent in Wales. Halo Leisure has operated the five pools since 2013. This 

move to Halo has resulted in an increased focus on cost effectiveness and determining 

value – “a repositioning”. The 60+ group engages well in Free Swimming here – in 

2016/17, Bridgend had the highest rate of swims per 1,000 (2,076) in Wales. For young 

people, there were 263 free public swims per 1,000 population, moving from a rank of 

22nd in 2012-13 to mid-table.  

 

The price of an adult public swim session in Bridgend is £3.90 and £2.10 for juniors. Free 

swimming is seen as a product that can encourage more regular swimming throughout 

the life course - but there are also many other low budget offers, and other free 

Tudalen62



21 
 

swimming options are available ‘outside’ of the scheme. For example, those who sign up 

to ‘Learn to Swim’ are given free access, and there are holiday offers and sessions such as 

‘Free Swim Fridays’ for families. The ‘Access to Leisure’ scheme provides an affordable 

offer.  

 

Free Swim offers are available at all times, not just at ‘down times’ for disadvantaged 

communities, and it is set up as ‘distinct’ in current format. “We’ve never integrated it in 

as the core budget.  It’s always been distinct – it is apportioned as part of the 

management and performance of centres rather than a gratuity to be shared… The truth 

for us is we could earn more money without it. But the offer is right, but hard to keep it 

working effectively and refresh and renew it…could do more to connect to broader 

outcomes”.  

 

Teaching of swimming has a clear pathway, but free swimming is not necessarily used for 

this “We were pretty early with the intensive model – a strength.  We now focus most of 

our primary sport on this model and consistency of staff teaching. School swimming and 

the connection of school swimming into Halo swimming is positive. We have a pathway on 

to the Development centre and the regional performance situation is clear.”  At face value 

however, the results provide a clear contrast to this statement. 21% of Bridgend’s Year 6 

pupils met the national curriculum standard in 2016/17, a fall from 78% prior to the 

change in criteria of how the standard is measured.  That change which makes the 

standard harder to achieve, and this may explain the difference, but also the consistency 

of measurement across Wales and quality of the data is questionable, so these results 

must be treated with caution. 

 

Structured swimming is felt to work better for younger people than splash, although there 

are doubts over whether it can increase participation. As an activity, swimming is not the 

only free offer available “we also offer free dry side activities at 14 locations during 

holidays and we also are funded by the town and community council for free activities in 

holidays for other things”. This additional provision accounts for 8,000 to 9,000 

attendances although this is ‘invisible' activity because it is not collated in monitoring 

returns. As with other areas, ‘free’ is not necessarily considered a good offer but 

understanding what kinds of membership and use is affordable for those who are 

excluded is important. “I’m interested what are the opportunities for regular, sustainable 

activities, a multi offer, not a single sport offer. The one membership should give access to 

20 activities in these places and spaces, take account of the seasonal aspect. Could be a 

large sports club if wanted to brand it that way.  That is where the FS could connect to a 

concept”. Geography and the transport the issue for some communities in Bridgend and 

with the Valleys, lack of doorstep provision is a factor. “Culturally if it’s not there, people 

don’t use it. Unless young people get activity through school, then they don’t get it from 

Tudalen63



22 
 

family.  Young people now have ownership and more control over decisions, but whether 

swimming is part of their menu of choice I think it varies”. 

 

We also analysed aspects of free swimming implementation that were less robust.  This 

enabled us to create an ‘avatar’ local authority comprising the features of a notional local 

authority which displayed characteristics which in our assessment are associated with less 

effective free swimming provision at local level.  One or more than one of these 

characteristics are present in many cases. These are assembled in the box below.  

 

Features of an ‘avatar’, less effective local authority: 

 

• The free swimming grant is absorbed into a bigger pot and seen as an income 

stream, not a grant.   

• The free swimming ‘plan’ is unclear and does not go beyond delivering the 

‘minimum’ criteria. There is no clear link to a broader aquatics plan or other 

development work with partners. 

• Take-up is varied within a local authority area, but no resources are devoted to 

addressing the areas that might benefit from support and targeted work. 

• Irregular data collection and monitoring of effectiveness. 

• Marketing of Free Swimming is not a priority. Local promotion of the offer is 

difficult to find for a member of the public and free swimming and the relevant 

timetables are not high profile on local authority websites. 

• Discussions about Free Swimming within the local authority or region are 

disjointed from other workstreams – it is a standalone topic. 

• Workforce shortages and lack of funding for training and developing the right 

workforce may be an issue. Additional training may be needed to upskill to 

develop Welsh medium provision and suitable offers that can engage with 

underrepresented groups. 

• No relationship with school provision or signposting to a pathway of aquatics 

opportunities for potential customers. 

• No designated lead in the authority with clear lead responsibility for delivery of 

free swimming and ensuring that the grant is used to good effect. 

 

 

  

Tudalen64



23 
 

Section 4: The Findings 
 

Previous research 

As part of our review, we analysed the findings of previous studies of free swimming in 

Wales.  The independent evaluation of the Free Swimming Initiative in Wales, which was 

published in 2008, concluded that it promoted a rise in swimming participation among both 

age groups and had a positive impact with hard to reach groups. There was some evidence 

of progression into other aquatics opportunities, and although the population of young 

people was decreasing, the number of swims per 1,000 population remained steady after 

the initial surge in participation until 2009.  

 

The 2008 evaluation12 and other previous studies note that free swimming monitoring data 

(collated by local authorities and reported by the Data Unit: Wales) tell us where, when and 

how many free swim opportunities are accessed.  But it does not record the characteristics 

of the participants: where they live, how often they attend, their level of swimming ability, 

and whether they access other types of aquatic opportunities and sport generally. Data on 

swimmers’ personal outcomes, experience and satisfaction with free swimming are not 

available. However, analysis of swimming participation in Wales shows that, as for most 

sports, young people living in more deprived areas of Wales are less likely to access sports 

opportunities, particularly formal activities which may include swimming lessons and club 

based opportunities13.  

 

This is not just a matter of cost. The 2008 evaluation reported that other factors such as the 

location of pools, the times when free swimming was available, the desire to avoid noisy 

over-crowded pools, and a dislike of swimming, were all significant deterrents to 

participation. These same kinds of issues are reflected in Sport Wales’ current insight on the 

importance of considering the ‘elements of engagement’14 and how individuals have very 

different levels of access, motivation, confidence, awareness, and perceptions of the 

experience of being active.  

 

Previous research has also concluded that cost is a less important barrier to the older age 

group.  It found that the two reasons older people cite most often for not swimming are a 

lack of fitness and a feeling that they are simply ‘too old’ to engage in this form of 

exercise15. Identical issues were found in our analysis of 2016 Sport Wales Sport and Active 

Lifestyles data. Cost was not a prominent issue for the older age group, whereas it was a 

barrier reported by younger adults aged 16 to 34.  

 

                                                           
12 N Bolton, et al Free Swimming evaluation 2008, Cardiff, InVEST, p32.  
13 www.schoolsportsurvey. See RCS Working Paper Free Swimming Data Analysis, Cardiff UKRCS Ltd, 2018. 
14 http://sport.wales/research--policy/tools-and-resources/publications.aspx 
15 Sports Council for Wales, Adult participation in sport, Sports Update, No. 61, Cardiff, 2009 

Tudalen65

http://www.schoolsportsurvey/


24 
 

From 2008 Sport Wales adopted a greater focus on ‘structured’ sessions and less emphasis 

on ‘free splash’ sessions.  There have been debates over the respective merits of high 

participation in free splash at busy public sessions as opposed to small numbers attending 

structured sessions that can support wellbeing objectives and sport development 

progression. On the one hand structured opportunities that focus on engagement and skill 

development provide a gateway to accessing swimming and other aquatic opportunities, as 

well as helping to equip people with an essential life skill. This was viewed by some as a 

more appropriate justification for using public money to support free swimming.   On the 

other hand, a free splash can be an accessible, fun opportunity for young people, but this 

offer may not develop physical literacy or target resources to groups most in need. This is an 

issue which we followed up, as reported below. 

 

Free swimming: The numbers 

Free swimming is in some respects extremely data rich, and reliably so, and in ways which 

are better than for many other free swim programmes.  Free swimming monitoring 

information is collected by the 22 local authorities and submitted to the Data Unit. Data 

have been consistently collected and verified since 2008 and published on the Free 

Swimming Portal16.  

 

The story in numbers is fairly straightforward in overall, national terms.  It is set out in 

Figure 1 and shows participation in free splash and in free structured swims. For young 

people the number of free splash swims initially increased very rapidly, reaching more than 

800,000 in 2004/5 (from a total of 387,000 swims by young people during the summer 

holidays in 200217) but then declining to 600,000 in 2009/10 and to just 145,000 by 2016/17.  

Structured swims for young people reached 94,000 by 2009/10 before declining significantly 

but more slowly than free swims to 47,000 by 2016/17. Paid swims meanwhile increased 

from some 300,000 to some 400,000 from 2009/10 to 2016/17.   

 

For the older age group, the story is of an initial increase to more than 600,000 ‘free splash’ 

swims which has remained fairly steady since. Meanwhile structured swims peaked at 

104,000 in 2013/14, before falling back to 73,000 in 2016/17.  

 

The key questions which the data throw up are why free swimming numbers have held up 

for the older age group, and why has there been such a steep decline for young people’s 

participation in the scheme, especially given that the national funding for free swimming 

has not declined to anything like the same extent.  Funding was reduced overall from £3.4m. 

                                                           
16 http://www.freeswimmingwales.net/IAS/launch 
17 From the 2008 InVEST report: “In 2002 the year before the implementation of the FSI, there were a total of 
387,000 swims taken by the 16 and under age group during the summer holidays (SCW 2004a)” (Ref: Sports 
Council for Wales (2004a) Report to the Welsh Assembly Government on the Free Swimming Pilot – Summer 
Holidays 2003, Cardiff: Sports Council for Wales). Bolton, N, et. al. (2008) Free Swimming: An Evaluation of the 
Welsh Assembly Government’s Initiative, Cardiff: Sports Council for Wales. 

Tudalen66



25 
 

to £3m. p.a. in 2015/16, and has reduced further as a function of the (relatively benign) 

level of inflation since then, having been held level financially in absolute terms.   

Nonetheless the decline in participation among young people both pre-dates the real terms 

financial reduction and has been far steeper.  

 

The reduction in young people’s swims:  We have assessed the secondary data to explore 

the issue of these falling numbers. Figure 1 shows the drop particularly affecting young 

people, and the latest reported data from the Data Unit for December 2017-January 2018 

continues to show this decline, with a 15% decrease in the number of free public swims for 

both younger and older people compared to the same period the year before18.  We have 

considered the following potential explanations of the reduction in free swims by young 

people:   

• National decline in the popularity of swimming; 

• Population changes; 

• The balance between free swimming and paid for swims; 

• The balance between investment in free splash as against structured swimming 

activities; and 

• The changes in the minimum provision criteria associated with reductions in funding, 

and local authorities differentially protecting provision for the older age group, set 

against broader reductions in public expenditure. 

                                                           
18 http://www.freeswimmingwales.net/IAS/news/ 
 

Tudalen67

http://www.freeswimmingwales.net/IAS/news/


26 
 

 

 

The fall in free swimming does not in fact reflect a general fall in national sport 

participation levels or interest in swimming as a popular activity. Sport Wales’ survey data 

show that the percentage of young people aged 7 to 16 taking part three or more times a 

week in sport has actually increased from 27% in 2011, to 40% in 2013 and 48% in 201519. 

No methodological changes to the survey were made during this time. In relation to 

swimming more than half of young people (57%) aged 7 to 16 reported they had taken part 

in swimming in 2015 and 48% in 2013.  In 2015, 45% wanted to do more swimming.  The 

reduction for the older age group is in any event much smaller, as shown in Figure 2, and 

survey data show that 14% of adults take part in swimming - the most popular activity 

reported after walking – and that 58% of all adults report an unmet demand for sport, the 

greatest demand for which is swimming (18%). Thus the interest in ‘swimming’ has not 

                                                           
19 Sport Wales School Sport Survey and www.schoolsportsurvey.org.uk and Sport and Active Lifestyles 
http://sportwales.org.uk/media/1929053/state_of_the_nation_report_english.pdf  
 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Figure 1: Free and paid swims for 16 and under

Paid Splash Structured

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

Figure 2: Free swims for 60+

Splash Structured

Tudalen68

http://www.schoolsportsurvey.org.uk/
http://sportwales.org.uk/media/1929053/state_of_the_nation_report_english.pdf


27 
 

decreased despite a fall in free swims and swimming continues to show high ‘latent 

demand’ and participation. 

 

Neither do population changes account for a fall in swims.  Although a demographic 

analysis of Wales reveals fewer young people and more older people this does not account 

for the extent of change shown in the data. As reported by the Data Unit, even keeping that 

factor constant the number of free swims per 1,000 population of young people shows the 

same steep downward trend.  

 

Nor does the increase in paid swims which has occurred compensate for reduced free swim 

provision and take up. The numbers of paid swims for the 16 and under age group peaked in 

2011-12 at almost 2 million. Although paid swims for young people aged 16 and under 

during holiday periods over time show a slight increase (Figure 1), they do not compensate 

sufficiently for the fall in free swims during the same period. In fact, paid swims for this age 

group were higher in 2012-13 (442,000) when free swims were also higher, compared with 

paid swims in 2016-17 (428,000).  For the period 2008 to 2018, the difference between the 

highest and lowest recorded year of paid swims for the 16 and under is 127,000. The 

difference between the highest and lowest recorded years for free swims (free splash plus 

free structured) for the same age group and period is approximately 544,000. 

 

We considered whether areas with bigger budget cuts in 2015/16 recorded a greater 

number of paid swims to compensate for any ‘lost’ free swims. There is no clear pattern. In 

2016-17, paid swims also increased in all the local authorities that had a budget increase for 

free swims. It is also unclear from the data how far provision is affected by budget changes, 

as reductions in average hours of provision at local level do not always correspond with a 

reduction in budget. 

 

It could be possible that the reduction is a consequence of a re-balancing of resources 

between free splash and free structured swim activities.  This appears unlikely because the 

number of structured activities for young people has reduced as well as the numbers for 

free splash, although not as much, as Figure 1 shows.  However, the cost profile of free 

splash and structured activities is completely different.  Free splash has a very low marginal 

additional cost unless pools become full to over-capacity because the pools are generally 

open anyway. However, structured activities incur specific additional costs per session.  

Moreover, it is possible that free splash and structured activities are not ‘either-or’, in the 

manner of a zero-sum game, but rather that the provision of structured activities stimulates 

and is complementary to free splash by way of introducing new entrants to swimming or 

building confidence. 

 

The minimum provision requirements of grant funding for free swimming have not been 

onerous throughout the programmes, notwithstanding the changes that have been 

Tudalen69



28 
 

introduced.  Many local authorities initially exceeded the minimum requirements 

considerably, and some still do. However, the reductions in grant and the revised 

distribution formula in 2015/16, and the wider reductions in local authority expenditure, 

have exercised downward pressure on the amount of provision.  We analysed unpublished 

data supplied by the Data Unit and Sport Wales on the average number of hours provided 

for free swimming from 2011 to 2016. It should be noted that in recent years, the collection 

of this data was not mandatory or subject to the usual validation process20. Bearing this in 

mind, data were still worthy of exploration to understand whether declining swims 

coincided with falling provision, and it seems this is the case.  

 

The analysis shows that the average hours of free splash provision for young people fell by 

more than half from 2011-12 to 2016-17 - the hours of free splash fell from approximately 

25,800 hours to 12,000, and free structured from 8,000 to 3,400 hours. In contrast, free 

splash for the 60 plus age group fell by under a quarter (24%) from 2011-12 to 2016-17 from 

174,200 hours in 2011/12 to 141,700 in 2015/16.  Moreover, the average hours of free 

structured provision for young people fell by 60% from 2011-12 to 2016-17. Again, free 

structured hours for the older age group did not change as much – falling by 28% from 

2011-12 to 2016-1721.  But the numbers of participants per session hour held up much 

better across the period, albeit with some fluctuations. 

 

The evidence from local authorities is that reductions of provision towards the minimum 

criteria - particularly for free splash for young people - are due to budget cuts and changes 

in funding formula, and the cost of covering the swims. Reducing the hours can free up pool 

time for paid-for lessons.  In terms of how this played out at local level, one local authority 

interviewee described the changes in these terms: 

“The main driver of reducing the provision toward the minimum criteria 

was the level of grant received. Since 2003 the level of grant was not 

increased with inflation whereas fees for entry to swimming pool increased 

substantially. There was therefore, a loss of income when the free sessions 

were programmed which led to the initiative losing its appeal to operators. 

Also, the funding formula was changed in 2015/2016 which led to the 

North Wales local authorities losing a substantial proportion of the grant to 

South Wales local authorities. This has resulted in the provision becoming 

worthless in my opinion compared to where we were in the early years.” 

 

Our best assessment is that the reductions in the use of free swimming arise principally in 

the changes in the minimum provision criteria associated with reductions in funding, and 

                                                           
20 See RCS Working Paper Free Swimming Data Analysis, Cardiff UKRCS Ltd, 2018 for calculations on average 

hours across different school holiday periods. For adults, averages were reported every two months. 
21 Hours of provision rounded to nearest 100. It should be noted that hours of provision are based on averages 

and the quality of the data has not been verified in last two years.  

Tudalen70



29 
 

local authorities differentially protecting provision for the older age group.  Pressures on 

local authority leisure budgets made it more difficult for them to go above and beyond the 

required minimum levels of provision, combined with changes to the funding formula in 

2015 to “better reflect the degree of socio-economic deprivation in each local authority”22 

that led to a reduction in funding to 16 of the 22 local authorities. Although most authorities 

continue to provide more than the minimum, they have reduced provision and numbers of 

swims have reduced accordingly – and of course they still receive the same level of grant23.  

 

This analysis also accords with the evidence we obtained from authoritative observers 

working closely with free swimming on the ground with long experience of the scheme and 

with the changes which have taken place. 

 

Stakeholders 

We received evidence from a wide range of stakeholders who we interviewed and surveyed 

in the course of our review. These include officials from the Welsh Government, Sport 

Wales, Swim Wales and Welsh Sports Association, Disability Sport Wales, the Data Unit and 

local authority staff responsible for managing and delivering free swimming, and 

respondents to our on-line survey (N=359 – mainly free swimming users). 

 

The ‘user'24 view:    Our online user survey of 359 respondents confirmed that users were 

generally strongly in favour of free swimming and emphasised its importance and benefits.   

In general, survey respondents considered all of the national aims associated with free 

swimming to be ‘Very Important’ or ‘Quite Important’. Very few respondents considered 

any of the aims to be ‘Not Very Important’ or ‘Not at All Important’. The national aims of 

free swimming that were identified as ‘Very Important’ by the largest proportion of survey 

respondents were: To help young people learn to swim (83%); To increase participation in 

physical activity for young people aged 16 and under (82%); and Improve the health and 

wellbeing of the population in Wales (77%).  Other aims considered ‘Very Important’ by well 

over half of respondents were: To support an all-Wales ambition of Every Child a Swimmer 

(73%); To make swimming more accessible for those living in disadvantaged areas (72%); To 

increase the opportunities for people with disabilities to swim (69%); and, To increase 

                                                           
22 http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/previous-administration/2015/freeswimming/?lang=en  
http://www.swimwales.org/pages/learn-to-swim-wales   
23 There is potentially also the issue of arms-length bodies and whether this move intensifies the commerciality 
of the operation and mean that local authorities have driven provision closer to the minimum criteria. It is not 
clear that is the case – respondents thought that it might partly have an effect, but that this was also 
happening prior to a move to an arms’ length operator and also where free swimming remained in a local 
authority.  
24 We refer here to the ‘user’ view although the survey was also completed by some people with an interest in 
the programmes who were not completing it as swimming participants or ‘for’ a participant (e.g. participants’ 
parents).  A secondary analysis has confirmed that the ‘actual’ users have a similar response profile to 
respondents overall. See  RCS Working Paper,  Free Swimming Survey Analysis, Cardiff, UKRCS Ltd, 2018 for a 
fuller analysis of the results. 

Tudalen71

http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/previous-administration/2015/freeswimming/?lang=en
http://www.swimwales.org/pages/learn-to-swim-wales


30 
 

participation in physical activity for adults aged 60+ (68%). Fewer respondents considered 

as important the aims: To provide structured organised sessions that lead to progression in 

swimming and other aquatic activities (51%); To provide an opportunity to swim for social 

purpose (50%); and, To help older adults learn to swim (49%).  

 

Respondents indicated that the programmes had a range of impacts on both target groups 

relating to increasing participation in swimming and physical activity, improving health and 

wellbeing, and bringing new customers to leisure centres. They felt that the programme has 

had more of an effect on bringing in older customers to leisure centres than bringing in new 

young customers to leisure centres.  Views were much more mixed as to whether the 

programmes had a positive impact on potential black and ethnic minority participants, and 

people with disabilities.  They were also more mixed on whether the programmes were cost 

effective, and whether they had led to joining a swimming club and identification of 

swimming talent. 

 

The online survey revealed that the most significant perceived barriers to participation for 

young people were perceived as Cost; A lack of awareness of what is available; Transport – 

the local population find it difficult to access provision; and, A lack of interest from the 

community in the type of opportunities offered. The Quality of Facilities does not appear to 

be a particularly important barrier to participation in swimming for younger people, and 

Cultural and Religious Barriers were identified by very few respondents. The barriers which 

are perceived to be the most significant to older people differ - Cost is seen as a much less 

significant barrier, although lack of awareness of what is available is also seen as a very 

important barrier for them. The other most important barriers to participation for them 

were seen as Internal barriers such as low confidence, self-esteem, Lack of physical capacity 

(inability to swim), and Transport. 

  

In relation to performance monitoring, respondents generally either did not know whether 

the national arrangements are appropriate or whether local arrangements were in place, or 

had no opinion either way. The responses do clearly indicate that the vast majority of 

respondents believe that free swimming should be a core part of the new vision which Sport 

Wales is preparing for the sector. 

 

Deliverers’ views:  We undertook extensive interviewing with local authority officers and 

held a number of workshops.  Views were gathered from all 22 local authorities.  Much of 

the evidence was consistent, but there were different views on important issues including 

the relative value of the approaches being adopted and the perceptions of the outcomes 

they can achieve. The different approaches adopted reflect the discretion local authorities 

have been given via the LAPA agreements which has resulted in different objectives driven 

by local needs’ analysis. There was also considerably variation in the perceived quality of 

delivery and plans – some are thoughtful and comprehensive, with free swimming closely 

Tudalen72



31 
 

connected to explicit broader aquatics objectives, whilst other plans are cursory in terms of 

implementation and critical success factors.  

 

In terms of objectives and funding, many authorities are keen on free swimming and were 

energised about delivering it, even when in some cases the written plans themselves are 

relatively weak. Free swimming is generally seen as a cost-effective way to increase overall 

participation and to create links to other areas of work. Thus ‘Every Child a Swimmer’ was 

mentioned frequently as a key objective, as was the objective of tackling deprivation and 

opening access for underrepresented groups. Local authorities often see a focus on learn to 

swim and top-up lessons as a strength:  

“That in itself works better (than free splash) – greater onus on the LA to 

work for the money… With the change in focus naturally the numbers 

decrease but overall you get more out of it” (West Wales LA). 

 

In several local authorities individuals who sign up for local authority swimming lessons can 

access swimming for free in any case.  So in those areas there is an effort to add value in 

using the free swimming money to target deprived areas and schools that have not achieved 

the required Key Stage 2 standard of learn to swim. Local authority interviewees noted that 

it was not always easy to get parents and children to take up the free offer of lessons – 

despite promoting the activities via the schools.  There was spare capacity in some areas 

where sessions either were not filling or where attendance fell short.  Feedback from one 

workshop cited only around a 20% attendance at a free ‘Learn to Swim’ holiday course and 

it was thought the low take-up partly related to underlying issues where swimming is not 

prioritised or perhaps is viewed as inaccessible among families living in socially deprived 

areas of Wales. 

  

In contrast, some local authorities feel that structured and ‘learn to swim’ offers have 

limited appeal for young people. It can be viewed as a test, rather than giving access to an 

enjoyable experience that encourages participation. As one interviewee commented:  

“I don’t think really that ‘every child swimmer’ is an outcome, it’s a test.  

What happens as a result of that, how will it be used?  Every child a regular 

swimmer would be different”. (South Wales local authority). 

 

Some local authorities favour continuing the ‘free splash’ offer and then trying to develop 

sustained participation from there, perhaps through taster sessions.  One interviewee 

commented that originally, free swimming was:  

“a fantastic incentive and successful in getting new swimmers regularly 

using it who would not normally be using the pool and getting confidence 

to take back to learn to swim in the school environment. Anything more 

than that I would question whether free swimming is able to do. Don’t 

overcomplicate it”. (North Wales local authority). 

Tudalen73



32 
 

 

A consistent message from frontline stakeholders is that the funding criteria currently 

favours the older age group and that this may warrant review. Many would re-balance the 

focus towards younger people because they face bigger barriers especially in relation to cost 

and access, especially when parents are faced with the cost barrier of paying to accompany 

younger children and travel to and from many pools that cannot be easily reached. The 

persistent view from those who operate the programmes is that funding for the 60 plus 

supports those who would swim anyway and who could afford to pay. The contra-argument, 

but which we heard much less frequently, is that free swimming can offer important 

physical activity opportunities and also social interaction to overcome loneliness.  Also 

issues of social exclusion are (in part) being overcome through access to activities such as 

Aqua Fit, which do benefit non-swimmers and provide much needed social interaction for 

some people. With regards to older people, frontline stakeholders feel stronger links to 

other policy areas need to be made explicit and efforts to build on areas such as some 

existing links with the National Exercise Referral Scheme (NERS) would be valuable as well as 

considering the wider benefits of involving the whole family. 

“For older adults it is health and wellbeing but also social participation. 

There have been friendship groups established from structured sessions 

and they have started a swimathon group -from ladies who couldn’t swim 

at all - now they see the benefits of being able to swim, they can 

participate more when on holiday, they can keep enjoying the benefits of 

water in other situations and they are not frightened of it. If a parent is 

frightened of water, the child is, and it breaks down that barrier and we 

have a lot of grandparents looking after children and cared for children, so 

to bring all those elements together can improve that.” (West Wales local 

authority). 

 

The flexibility of the programmes was valued. However, there were mixed views among 

local authority staff as to whether the programmes should be part of future Sport Wales 

strategy – some would prefer an uncomplicated ‘national’ offer rather than pursuing 

multiple outcomes which are not commensurate with the resources. 

 

The barriers to swimming identified by interviewees reflect those highlighted in previous 

studies and relate particularly to those living in areas of deprivation.  They include access, 

motivation, cost, transport, and support from ‘agents’ – which means having the right 

workforce to be able to deliver enjoyable and progressive and tailored opportunities such as 

Welsh medium provision, and provision for disability and black and ethnic minority groups. 

Indeed, some considered that for young females, barriers to swimming may be even greater 

than some other sports, given body image and confidence issues, especially for those with 

low levels of physical literacy. However, national surveys show swimming remains one of 

the most popular activities in terms of equal gender participation and demand, as well as its 

Tudalen74



33 
 

strength in being able to cater for all ages, ethnic communities and abilities when designed 

appropriately. 

 

In the view of frontline deliverers, the decline in swims has been exacerbated by an absence 

over some years of national promotion of free swimming, and a piecemeal and variable 

approach to marketing at local level, which is sometimes left to the discretion of each pool.  

This almost certainly means that there is a lack of knowledge and awareness about the free 

swimming offer and the times when it is available in each area.  Most interviewees wanted 

national promotion reinstated, and some commented that if public awareness of free 

swimming is raised this will increase public pressure on local authorities to deliver it well.  

 

We found very mixed practice with regards to local promotional campaigns. Some local 

authorities use multiple platforms (e.g. social media) and are really making a concerted 

effort to push the initiative. Others rely on minimal promotion by leisure centres, therefore 

probably only reaching the existing customer base. Our own review of local authority web 

sites in relation to the programmes confirmed that there are wide variations in terms of 

quality and clarity of local promotion.  This is, however, perhaps to be expected given that 

the cost of any local promotion would need to be taken from the grant or otherwise found 

from an authority’s, but with no prospect of significant additional income even if the 

promotion were to be very successful.  

 

Raising awareness, sharing knowledge and promoting learning among deliverers of the 

scheme was also considered important by frontline stakeholders.  They reported that 

national/regional meetings about free swimming have mostly been lost (with some 

exceptions). Some local authority interviewees felt there was a lack of direction and 

challenge for the funding received compared with other programmes like Active Young 

People. Good practice and sharing of evidence would be valued, as generally interviewees 

from local authorities felt they were working independently rather than collaborating on 

free swimming. For some, the problems of free swimming are rooted in its lack of flexibility.  

One seasoned practitioner saw it in terms that “there is still a need for some free family 

splash. Although it isn't likely to affect activity levels, it provides a fun enjoyable family 

experience in the pool and at the leisure centre. There should be less emphasis on the 60+ 

who can pay – but again keep some of the offer for social, health and mental well-being, 

lessening the impact on NHS, and encouraging prevention. Free Swim is a bit outdated and 

too rigid and prescriptive in the criteria for the two specific age bands - it needs to be more 

flexible and allow targeting and to be used more with learn to swim and school swimming.” 

 

Frontline stakeholders also considered that designing a programme around a ‘free’ offer 

may in fact be less appealing to the end user than heavy subsidy and price sensitivity is not 

tested. As one commented: “What is the price tolerance for those who are excluded? What 

Tudalen75



34 
 

would a £1 swim do for the scheme? Free is not always a good offer”.  Another reported 

that:  

“When we offered free structured classes, take up was low. When we 

offered free structured classes for £1, take up increased. That gave us the 

message that people prefer to pay something, so they can see whether 

there is value in it. There is no ‘value’ in a free structured class. For the 

individual to see a value, there has to be heavily subsidised activity and 

swimming paid a price. In general, free structured hasn’t worked here. It 

looks like we don’t do it, but in fact it is just heavily subsidised…….it was a 

strange phenomenon……….Our only conclusion was that they felt there was 

a value to the nominal price as opposed to it being for free – even though 

charged and free sessions were of the same content and quality, the free 

session was probably viewed as being of lesser quality. We tried varying our 

communication in order to ensure that parents were aware that they were 

the same but the numbers attending showed that free was not appealing – 

perhaps a behavioural scientist can explain this to us!!” 

  

This view that ‘free’ is not necessarily being valued was echoed by several local authority 

interviewees, and there was support from workshop participants for creating a universal 

subsidised scheme to reduce the cost of access for all.   

 

Reduced funding has resulted in less time available for free swimming. For example, a four 

hour period of free swimming in the timetable being reduced to one hour,  makes this far 

less attractive to the end user. This was an issue affecting parents of young people who 

might see value in paying for a half day multi-sport offer but find it logistically difficult if 

children are only occupied for an hour of free swimming. The issue of reduced time slots 

combined with limited transport availability (exacerbated by cuts to local bus services) was 

also seen as inhibiting older adults from attending.   

 

Finally, ‘local’ factors are seen as playing a big part – e.g. seasonality and weather in coastal 

authorities/tourist locations, distance between facilities in Powys and Gwynedd, and 

competition for the attention of young teens in urban areas. The local authority 

representatives considered that the resources were not targeted sufficiently towards 

deprived areas/individuals, and a number expressed concerns as to whether rural 

deprivation is sufficiently reflected in the funding formula. In rural areas, transport and rural 

deprivation are seen as major barriers. The need to have flexibility within a framework to 

allow areas to better cater to local needs was a consistent response from stakeholders. 

Despite the issues, there remains enthusiasm and positivity about what can be achieved 

with the programmes. 

 

Tudalen76



35 
 

National stakeholders’ views:  We interviewed and had discussions with a range of national 

bodies with a stake in the programmes including the Welsh Government, Sport Wales, Swim 

Wales, Disability Sport Wales (DSW), Welsh Sports Association (WSA), the Children’s 

Commissioner, the Cymru Older People’s Alliance (COPA), WCVA, WLGA, and Public Health 

Wales.  All recognised that the programmes have value but there were also strong voices 

calling for revision and change.  Both DSW and COPA emphasised the wider potential 

benefits of the programmes in terms of health and wellbeing, and the desirability of 

extending the range of potential activities available.  But COPA in particular highlighted the 

need to do this without diluting the funding currently available to free swimming.  Indeed, 

the observation that it is difficult to justify public funds for free swimming but not for other 

beneficial physical activities was made by a number of the national stakeholders. 

 

Perhaps most strikingly, all three national sport bodies expressed major reservations about 

the programmes as they currently work.   For Sport Wales there is a sense of frustration that 

for many local authorities the grant aid is treated as an income line against easily achievable 

minimum criteria of provision.  The straitened financial circumstances of local authorities is 

entirely recognised, but the structure of the grant conditions makes it harder to encourage 

better performance against what is now a complex set of objectives. Sport Wales’ liaison 

officers engage with each local authority on the programmes formally on at least a twice 

yearly basis but have very limited influence.  They view the programmes as having limited 

value for the investment made.  They question whether it is targeted optimally either in 

relation to young people (where they see deprivation and learning to swim as the priority 

areas) or older people (where they see a disproportionate weighting of resources towards a 

relatively small and relatively better off section of the population). 

 

Swim Wales also consider that there is a need for major change.  They believe that 

consistency and collaboration is key, and that simplicity of administration and operation is 

vital.  They favour creating a clear set of outcomes through a holistic Aquatic Development 

Plan for key stakeholders leading to a situation of ‘flexible consistency’ across all local 

authorities. They want to see change rather than abolition of the programmes, and a more 

significant role for Swim Wales in setting outcomes aligned to overarching strategic goals. 

They see the future focus being on the theme of getting young people ‘Fit for the Future’ as 

well as accessibility, areas of deprivation and disability, and that free swimming should 

complement the current school swimming programmes in Wales. 

 

The WSA reported that their aquatics’ members hold the ‘gift’ of free swimming in very high 

regard but want to see more ‘efficient management’, by which they mean greater clarity of 

objectives and a much stronger emphasis on performance management of outcomes, which 

can be incentivised and / or sanctioned if not achieved. They see learning to swim as a 

fundamental life skill which opens up opportunities to access a wide variety of aquatic 

activities – and that means delivering skills rather than ‘splash’. They also favour a ‘one plan’ 

Tudalen77



36 
 

model to cover all the focus areas of sport related grant aid, linked back to the objectives of 

the investment.  Whilst they believe that there is a definite need for the programme to 

continue for young people, they raise questions about whether the majority of older people 

using the programme could afford at least a nominal fee. 

 

The WLGA see free swimming scheme as a long standing and much valued scheme.  Local 

authorities and the WLGA have supported the drive towards a more targeted and evidence 

based approach to free swimming while holding also to the original universal ethos.  They 

emphasise that over time authorities have become increasingly reliant on the grant as a 

supplement to diminishing core funding especially as the years of austerity have put a 

massive strain on local government budgets and discretionary services such as culture and 

leisure, which have borne a disproportionate share of the cuts.  Thus they consider that any 

cut or changes to the grant funding, would have an impact on overall provision, and that 

now is not the time to change the funding arrangements.  Their preference would be the 

continuation of funding along current lines with a greater clarity of purpose, better 

marketing, a focus on good practice and proportionate monitoring.  The WLGA would not 

want to see any impact on current provision, and would want to avoid approaches which 

might add complexity or bureaucracy.   

 

The ‘cost’ of free swimming 

It is surprisingly difficult to pin down the costs of the free swimming programmes, and the 

return for the public good as a result of the investment.  The headline cost in public 

expenditure terms is clear enough at £3m p.a. held constant in cash terms since 2015/16 in 

Welsh Government grant distributed to local authorities by Sport Wales.   But there is no 

direct relationship between the grant and either the grant trigger requirement of a 

minimum of hours of provision or of the outputs or outcomes achieved, unless individual 

local authorities themselves decide to put one in place.  In practice few do, and where they 

do the relationship is particular to each authority.  This does not mean that the grant is not 

important to local authorities, and many use it thoughtfully and to good effect.  But that 

does not make it any easier to trace through the trail from public financial investment to 

outcomes.  As two of our respondents explained: 

“One of the main weaknesses from our point of view is that most local 

authorities now view it as an income line in their core budget which means 

that any change in funding now is basically seen as a cut not treated as a 

grant generally.” (North Wales local authority). 

 

“If it were to stop with short notice the amount lost would be the 

equivalent to running a medium to large size leisure centre – that would be 

the impact. Yes, we’ll save money from not running activities if it stopped, 

but it would leave a black hole.  It is budgeted for as grant income. If we 

didn’t have free splash could we do other things and sell the space?  

Tudalen78



37 
 

Probably some, but not all. The structured provision would be the biggest 

decline in the types of young people that can go through it -they are the 

one outcome-based programme that we couldn’t do without the grant.  

Huge pressure anyway to cut 50% of budget, already cut to bone”. (West 

Wales local authority) 

 

We have carried out an analysis to try and pin down the cost of the programmes according 

to a range of possible approaches.  These are: 

• Assumed income foregone; 

• Actual current income foregone; and 

• Actual cost. 

 

Assumed income foregone:  The original basis of the free swimming grant appears to have 

been that local authorities should be reimbursed for the income foregone as a result of 

providing swimming for free. This of course immediately raises the question of whether all 

those accessing free swimming would have swum anyway.  Nonetheless, our analysis 

suggests that in broad terms local authorities have in fact been reimbursed on the basis that 

every free swim, both splash and structured, would have been fully paid.    

 

In summary, we have calculated the ‘lost’ income if all free swims had been paid for across 

the period 2008/9 to 2016/17 inclusive25.   In round terms there were 3.6m. young people 

free swims and 6m. older people free swims at a current average price of £2.30 and £3.76 

respectively, making a total in current prices of £30.7m.  There were also structured swims 

of 0.7m for young people and 0.77m. for older people at an average current price of £4.07.  

This makes a total of £36.7m.  Although we do not have detailed figures of the price of 

swims across the whole period, discounting that total to the mid-inflation year of the period 

of 2011 gives a figure of £29.2m.  The grant in aid distributed to local authorities across the 

same period was a total of £28.7m. – that is, there was a broad equivalence. 

 

Actual current income foregone:    The current position for free swimming programmes is 

not the same as it was in 2008/9.    In the last full year there were 145,204 young people 

free swims and 664,500 for older people.  Using the above formula this would indicate 

income forgone of some £3.31m. if it assumed that all the free structured and free splash 

swims would have been paid for.  However, although it is difficult to say how many paid 

swims there would have been in the absence of the programmes, it is clear that there would 

have been fewer.  As to young people, the number of free swims has already declined 

radically from the previous free swim levels, and it may be therefore that all or most of the 

current free swims represent paid swims forgone. For older people, it is likely that the 

number of swims would have been much closer to the level of less than 200,000 swims 

                                                           
25 RCS Working Paper, The Costs of Free Swimming, Cardiff, UKRCS Ltd, 2018. 

Tudalen79



38 
 

recorded for this age group at the time when the programmes began. Insofar as the level 

would remain above that (as many deliverers believe), then that itself is reasonably 

attributable to the long term public investment in free swimming, which is what boosted the 

number of swims to 600,000+. So this should not really be counted as income foregone so 

much as an ongoing benefit of additional activity for the investment made. On this basis, 

and assuming that all structured swims for both age groups also represent income foregone, 

the total would be about £1.6m. p.a., or just over half of the free swimming grant 

distributed. 

 

Actual cost:   As to the actual cost incurred by local authorities in providing free swimming, 

it is reasonable to assess this in part on the basis of the actual income foregone as set out 

above. Arguably the actual marginal costs of providing free swimming for any age group 

where the swimming facility itself would in any event be open would itself be absolutely 

minimal, unless the extent of extra usage required additional staffing or opening hours to 

accommodate demand.  However, if the same reasoning were applied to all categories of 

users, there would be no core income base on which to provide such marginally costed 

provision. So the reasonable actual cost of free swimming in our view is the sum of income 

reasonably foregone in terms of young and older people who would otherwise have swum 

and paid for free splash, plus the actual costs of structured activities because they clearly do 

involve additional costs for local authorities.  On this basis we assess the actual current costs 

of free swimming to be of the order of a maximum of £1.5m. p.a., or half of the actual grant 

in aid distributed.   

 

Cost to users:  It is also important to bear in mind that the real cost of free swimming to 

users is also something of a slippery concept, despite its apparent simplicity and clarity.  For 

all swimmers there is the cost of transport, which in rural areas can be considerable.  Where 

young children access free swimming, they often have to be accompanied by a paying adult.  

And there are collateral costs which can arise in terms of clothing and equipment, and 

refreshments.  Nonetheless these are relatively straightforward considerations compared to 

working out the ‘real’ cost of free swimming to the public purse, which is far more complex. 

 

Whist cost is seen as a barrier to swimming participation by users and others, the weight of 

judgement of interviewees and survey respondents was that this was more of an issue for 

young people than for the older age group.  We also had evidence (see ‘Delivers’ Views’, 

above) that providing ‘free’ swimming might be less attractive than subsidised swimming, 

which adds a further nuance to the issue of cost as a barrier to swimming participation. 

 

Equalities 

In an important sense, the idea of equality is central to the idea of free swimming.  By 

making swimming free, it is intended to be available as a universal benefit in respect of the 

target groups.   Moreover, equalities’ objectives have been specifically pursued both by 

Tudalen80



39 
 

weighting the funding distribution formula in favour of local authority areas with higher 

levels of deprivation, and by introducing criteria which include a requirement to make 

provision for people within the target groups with protected characteristics – people with 

disabilities or from BAME communities, and Welsh speakers. 

There is limited evidence in local authorities’ plans to suggest that there is a strong focus on 

equalities’ aspects, but some certainly do make it a focus. One authority emphasised how 

they were very keen on looking at exclusions – “it could be BME, disabled, deprivation – we 

know where they are….and do outreach work……we have a large number of pupils with 

disabilities so we look to engage with those via the development officer”.  Another 

commented that a disability focus was a strength for them: 

“Our disability programme has expanded a lot with free swimming.  We run 

7 sessions a week for just disability swimming. What we try and do is have 

under 8s through to intermediates at one pool. Parents go in with their 

children when they are under 8, and also working with the swimming club 

to link in.  They then have somewhere to go”.   

  

In another authority free swimming had been promoted as 'all inclusive' but the incoming 

responsible officer felt that there was no real targeting, because simply advertising sessions 

as ‘inclusive’ was not getting disabled people (or other groups) to come along. Over the last 

3 years he has been working with the local authority’s Disability Sport Officer and directly 

with special schools to provide organised lessons. This is the model that works best, going 

direct to Special Educational Needs schools and to community disability groups. The 

disability sessions are separate first, but then swimmers are signposted into the free swim 

disability sessions and Learn To Swim programme in the same way as mainstream school 

swimming teaching then enables children to access to free swim and further lessons.  The 

pathways are critical. 

 

A review conducted internally by Sport Wales in 2015 of local authority provision also 

identified a range of examples of initiatives in relation to Welsh speakers and BAME 

communities, and a focus on linking Learn To Swim activities to schools and pupils in areas 

of higher deprivation and with lower levels of swimming attainment.  This indicates a 

concern to respond to the priorities which Ministers and Sport Wales have built into the two 

programmes.  However, some of the more interesting and positive initiatives in relation to 

BAME communities have actually had as their target the needs of BAME women and 

children which did not correlate to the free swimming slots or criteria, such as in Cardiff.  

Moreover, although aimed at women in areas with a relatively high BAME population, they 

were open to all and 50% of the participants were not BAME. 

 

Notwithstanding these efforts, there are three features of the current free swimming 

programmes which make it very difficult to impact significantly on equalities’ objectives.  

Tudalen81



40 
 

The first is that although the grant formula is weighted towards local authorities with higher 

levels of deprivation, there is no necessary weighting within local authorities towards those 

swimming pools which are in local areas of greater deprivation or which have higher 

proportions of users who are less advantaged. Indeed, such a calculation may be very 

difficult if not impossible for local authorities to do.  This means that, in practice, the grant 

resources which are deployed on free splash swim sessions is ‘used’ almost entirely on a 

self-selected basis – if young people or older people wish to take up the opportunity, and 

can do, then they access it.  If they are non-swimmers, or cannot get to the pool for some 

reason (possibly transport availability and cost in rural areas) then they do not. 

 

This is the second feature of the current programmes which limits their equalities’ impact, 

because the vast majority of the grant resources are attributed to free splash swims.  Our 

estimate is that about 15% of the grant is deployed on free structured swims, for which local 

authorities have to spend specific sums for instructors and life guards, and sometimes pool 

hire as well.  The balance, of about 85% or some £2.5m a year, is allocated to the budgets of 

swimming pools to represent lost income on free splash swims.  It is thus a small minority of 

the grant resource which goes on free structured swims, which are the sessions which are 

targeted towards the equalities’ objectives. 

 

The third limitation of the programmes is that the majority of the grant resource which goes 

to the older age group is in practice only available to those who swim because it is 

attributed to income foregone from free splash swimmers from the older age group.  Non-

swimmers can only realistically access the free structured swims. 

 

Our best estimate is that the free structured swims for older people cost no more than 

£300,000 p.a. It is difficult to estimate precisely how much is attributed to free splash swims 

by older people, because local authorities can distribute the grant ‘internally’ according to 

their own discretion, and they use different approaches to the way in which they distribute 

the grant to the budgets of their pools.  Nonetheless, the amount which is attributed to free 

splash by older people is likely to be at least 50% of the £2.5m p.a. attributed to free splash 

swims across both programmes, and may be as high as nearly 80% - that is, between 

£1.25m and £2m p.a.  However, and this is critical to appreciate, the services provided 

through this grant resource can be accessed by only 6% of the 60+ population, because it is 

only 6% of those 60+ at most who swim.  

   

For adults generally (those aged 16 or over), some 14% participate in any indoor or outdoor 

swimming. But the equivalent figure for those 60+ drops to 6%26, with most of these being 

swimmers, or a population of some 50,000 who swim on average about 12 times a year, a 

figure which is consistent with what we know from a previous survey.   Moreover, we know 

                                                           
26 ibid. 

Tudalen82



41 
 

that this 6% is likely to be from better off households, because we know that adult sports 

participation levels generally are affected by household material deprivation however.  

Some 49% of adults who live in a household in material deprivation took part in a four week 

survey period compared with 61% of adults (aged 16+) who did not27. 

 

Thus a very substantial share of the grant resources of the free swimming programmes is 

attributed to only 6% of one of the two target groups.   This means that free swimming is 

not, in practice, a universal benefit  

 

Success factors for free swimming programmes 

As part of a wider analysis and to provide insight to this review we undertook a 

comprehensive analysis of reports of previous evaluations of free swimming interventions in 

the UK over the past fifteen years28. This highlighted six key factors that are important to 

the success of free swimming:  

• Clear guidance about the objectives of free swimming programmes; 

• Effective marketing of free swimming programmes; 

• Funding mechanisms which allow free swimming to be tailored to local contexts; 

• Monitoring and evaluation which facilitates accountability;  

• The development of effective partnerships between the funders and agencies 

responsible for delivery; and 

• Maximising the synergies with other policies and programmes. 

 

These success factors provide a useful framework for assessing the strengths of and 

potential areas for improvement in the way in which the free swimming programmes 

operate in Wales. 

 

Clear Guidance for Deliverers: Our review of the wider evidence showed the need for 

agencies charged with delivery to be given clear guidance about the objectives of free 

swimming and the funder’s expectations in terms of marketing, monitoring and outcomes. 

Some local authorities in England cited inadequate guidance from central government as 

one of the reasons for their failure to market free swimming. The evaluation of free 

swimming in Wales also pointed to the importance of national guidance about Ministers’ 

expectations and in recent times less national and local marketing.  

 

Welsh Government guidance on the minimum criteria for free swimming focuses on 

numbers of hours and type of provision required. Guidance from Sport Wales amplifies this 

and makes it clear that free swimming is intended to help to reduce poverty, improve health 

and enable people to learn to swim. But it is not clear how this drives local choices about 

the mix of activities that are offered at local level. There is evidence that free splash sessions 

                                                           
27 ibid. 
28 RCS Working Paper,  Free Swimming Literature Review, Cardiff, UKRCS Ltd, 2018. 

Tudalen83



42 
 

can generate increases in the frequency with which people swim (market penetration), at 

least in the early years of a programme.  But structured activities, such as lessons, are 

known to be a more effective way to encourage people to learn to swim and improve their 

skills (market development), providing them with the means for more sustainable, longer-

term participation. More targeted provision also provides clear activity pathways for specific 

groups of beneficiaries.     

 

There is, therefore, a need for greater clarity about the objectives of free swimming and for 

clear strategy which prioritises the kinds of provision that are most likely to produce the 

desired broader outcomes. Moreover, those objectives (some of which have been stated 

and form part of the current implementation arrangements) need to be linked to effective 

monitoring and incentivisation to encourage better outcomes. 

 

Effective Marketing:  For free swimming to be effective, the public needs to be aware of the 

offer and understand how, when and where they can access it. This requires effective 

marketing, particularly to target groups and especially to non-swimmers.  Under-resourced 

and poorly implemented marketing has been identified as a problem with free swimming 

programmes elsewhere. In the first year of the national free swimming initiative in England, 

local authorities adopted a range of approaches to marketing the scheme in their areas. 

Some were effective, whilst other local authorities engaged in only minimal promotion but 

areas that invested in marketing saw the greatest increase in participation.   Similar 

variability marked the early years of free swimming in Wales. 

 

Our review considered the marketing that is currently undertaken. The Welsh Government’s 

website gives very little information about free swimming beyond a link to Sport Wales. On 

the Sport Wales website information about both the young people and older people 

programmes is found under “Community Sports, Adults” along with information about the 

benefits of swimming and the minimum criteria.   We then observed wide variations 

between local authority websites in the types of information they provide about free 

swimming. The architecture of local authority web sites varies, as does ease of access to 

information about Sport and Leisure. In some cases, this can be found on front pages, but in 

others it has to be located by searching in the A to Z, and it is not always located using 

obvious service names. Some local authorities provide direct links to timetables with days 

and times when free swimming is offered, some give a written explanation of the free 

swimming scheme for both programmes, and some had no information about this or the 

days and times when it was available.   

 

In our view, the lack of information at national level and wide local variations in the 

accessibility and content of information about free swimming are significant weaknesses 

which could be relatively straightforward and inexpensive to address, subject to there being 

clarity about objectives and provision. 

Tudalen84



43 
 

 

Flexible funding and delivery tailored to local needs:  The way in which free swimming is 

funded is key to its success or failure. Clear guidance about what free swimming is expected 

to achieve (see above) has to be combined with the flexibility for local authorities to 

implement it in ways that work best in their local contexts. Funding in England and Wales 

has been based on population size and/or levels of need. But evaluations in both countries 

have advocated that the funding formulae need to do more to incentivise local authorities 

to maximise and sustain levels of participation and also to target those most in need.  

 

Our analysis echoes this. A shortcoming of the current approach to funding in Wales focuses 

on levels of provision (inputs) rather than outcomes such as improvements in health, 

wellbeing or learning to swim, and there is no requirement for local authorities to maximise 

participation levels. They simply have to fulfil the minimum criteria. Moreover, whilst the 

allocations to local authorities reflect the overall level of deprivation in their areas, there is 

no external top-up incentive in the funding mechanism for them to prioritise the needs of 

their most deprived communities. Indeed, the easier way simply to increase the numbers of 

participants may be for them to focus provision in areas where there are fewer barriers to 

swimming (such as lack of private transport to leisure centres or, in some extreme cases, 

even a lack of swimming gear).  

 

In our view then, the current arrangements give local authorities very considerable 

discretion to the point where some regard the free swimming grant as one of their sources 

of income, at a time when other sources are under severe pressure.  Sport Wales’ guidance 

is very clear that this is not how the grant is to be used, but in practice it lacks the means to 

prevent it. For this reason, is a clear case for re-thinking both the funding mechanism and 

strengthening the monitoring and accountability frameworks for free swimming.  There 

could be more incentive funding for local authorities to strive to maximise their 

effectiveness in meeting the objectives of free swimming and achieve more in terms of 

engaging ‘hard to reach groups’ rather than focusing on the inputs and meeting the 

minimum criteria.   

 

Monitoring and evaluation which enables accountability:  Several evaluations of free 

swimming programmes have highlighted a lack of effective monitoring and evaluation and 

in some cases of even basic information management systems that can provide reliable data 

about the numbers of participants and levels of physical activity. This information is vital to 

understanding the impact of interventions and identifying ways to maximise their 

effectiveness.  

 

There have been improvements over time in the monitoring of free swimming programmes 

in Wales. But the focus is still on the numbers of swims. There is a lack of data on the types, 

frequency and intensity of physical activity, and it is not possible to judge the extent to 

Tudalen85



44 
 

which the programmes lead to wider outcomes such as improvements in health, the 

numbers of children who learn to swim or levels of deprivation. The plans submitted by local 

authorities are judged by Sport Wales against the basic criteria set by the Welsh 

Government and those added by Sport Wales itself.  Our analysis of local authority plans 

revealed wide variations in the quality, level of detail, focus and methods used to calculate 

the costs of free swimming.  There is no formal annual report on free swimming to the Sport 

Wales Board or from Sport Wales to the Welsh Government.  This means that the annual 

report produced by the Data Unit, which focuses on the numbers of swims, is not 

supplemented by analysis and insight that those coordinating the scheme could provide, or 

by more in-depth evidence about changes in the quality of participants’ lives. 

 

Effective Partnership Working: Several studies have highlighted the importance of 

developing partnerships to building and sustaining increases in participation in physical 

activity generated by free swimming. This includes the development of links between free 

swimming and other networks of community based activities and organisations. These 

partners can offer a means of raising awareness among specific target and ‘hard to reach’ 

groups. The lack of an effective partnership infrastructure was identified as one of four key 

weaknesses of the free swimming offer for older people in one socially deprived area of 

South Wales. In this case, the local authority developed a link between free swimming and 

its own GP referral scheme, but links with other external organisations (for example, with 

Age Wales/Age UK, Healthy Living for Older People and Healthy Living for Carers) were far 

less developed and there was little evidence of overt information sharing, consultation and 

pooling of resources. 

 

The key partners in the free swimming programmes in Wales are the Welsh Government, 

Sport Wales, and local authority leisure providers. But, partly for the reasons discussed 

above, the conditions for fully effective partnership working are not in place. Good 

partnership depends on having clear and aligned objectives, and appropriate accountability, 

and these features are not currently present. Indeed, that is likely to be made more difficult 

by the devolution of leisure provision in most Welsh local authorities to arms-length bodies.   

 

More widely, another important partnership dimension is that between the local delivery 

and community organisations and networks.  This linkage can play a significant part in 

engaging hard to reach groups, and also in helping to develop progression and a pathway to 

sustained participation. However we found no evidence that this is any stronger now than 

when identified as a weakness in previous studies.  The experience of programmes such as 

Calls for Action suggests that there are potential gains to be had from involving non-

traditional partners that have strong community links and can act as a bridge. 

 

Maximising synergies with other policies and programmes:  Free swimming is only one of 

many instruments that can be used by policy makers to try to increase physical activity 

Tudalen86



45 
 

levels, and ultimately the health and wellbeing of the population. The school curriculum is 

perhaps the area in which free swimming interacts most closely with other policies and 

programmes, but the relationships between it, the National Curriculum for Physical 

Education and School Sport are not clear. Swimming and water safety are a recognised part 

of the National Curriculum, currently sitting specifically within the adventurous part of the 

2008 National Physical Education Curriculum and also featuring in each of the areas of 

experience in the curriculum.  At the same time, contributing to the national objective of 

learning to swim has also been an objective of the free swimming programmes since 2010.   

 

In addition to school swimming provision, local authorities provided 30,660 swimming 

lessons during 2016-17 using the free swimming grant. But although free swimming is being 

used to supplement educational provision, the data cannot tell us anything about whether 

those swimmers achieving the Learn To Swim standard have continued to participate. Of 

course, free swimming is – for the most part - only accessible to those who have been 

taught to swim, and as mentioned above, national survey data suggests that people living in 

deprived areas are less likely to be swimmers – thus making access more difficult for the 

very groups that free swimming aims to support.  

 

All children should have access to swimming during Key Stage 2. However, the relationship 

between free swimming and the curriculum is largely ambiguous, as is the responsibility and 

funding mechanisms for ensuring ‘Every Child a Swimmer’.  The National Curriculum does 

not provide clarity about the desired swimming attainment levels, although attainment 

levels are built into the primary sector through ‘Nofio Ysgol’ (School Swimming). Swim 

Wales (2018) leads the scheme which has a comprehensive developmental pathway of eight 

levels which include summative assessments.  Guidance on delivery is flexible, although the 

minimum guidance is for 26 hours between years 2 and 6. It is suggested that this is best 

organised as 7 hours contact at each of these years, although it is permissible to deliver the 

hours intensively if schools are constrained. Participation in the scheme is not compulsory. 

Guidance from other agencies, such as Estyn and the regional Education Consortia, is very 

limited and it remains unclear how swimming will feature in the new curriculum. 

 

The Learn to Swim (school swimming) monitoring undertaken by the Data Unit for Sport 

Wales shows that national ‘pass’ rates have fallen during the past three years from 75% 

reaching the standard by Year 6 in 2014-15, to 67% in 2016-17. The highest and lowest 

percentages recorded at local authority level are not consistently the same authorities each 

year29.  The criteria for measuring achievement of the standard also changed (it became 

harder to achieve) which local authority interviewees thought would account for some of 

this change in pass rates. ‘Learn to Swim’ data is unpublished and there have been concerns 

over the quality of it. However, it is used by Sport Wales and local authorities as an indicator 

                                                           
29 LGDU figure 2016/17 – see http://www.data.cymru/freeswimming  

Tudalen87

http://www.data.cymru/freeswimming


46 
 

and a means of targeting free swimming resources locally to ‘underperforming’ areas, being 

those areas/schools within a local authority where the percentages of children meeting the 

standard are lower.  However, the data may not be a firm base of reliable information on 

which to make those judgements. 

 

In the workshops we held, the groups considered that larger schools benefited from school 

swimming more than small schools because they had greater resources. When school 

budgets are cut, swimming tends to be cut, and the general interest of a school’s Head 

Teacher in swimming/sport can affect access,. In spite of these challenges there are 

examples of good practice.  A good example was provided where a local authority and their 

leisure provider programmed after school classes in centres close to the school clusters. This 

allowed the children to walk to the classes and for parents to pick them up after.  Swim 

Wales, the WSA and other stakeholders all suggest further clarity is required with regards to 

the ownership and accountability for the learn to swim element of the free swimming 

outcomes and links to the current and future curriculum.  Clearly free swimming cannot 

replace curriculum based learn to swim, and unless there is more clarity there is a self-

evident risk of failures to co-ordinate and to use public resources optimally. 

 

  

Tudalen88



47 
 

Section 5: Conclusions and Options 

This review was charged with addressing two principal issues.  In summary:  

• What has been the contribution of free swimming to community sport and physical 

activity, and its impact across Welsh Government priorities and wellbeing objectives? 

• Has free swimming achieved its stated outcomes and can it achieve a greater impact 

on sport and physical activity participation levels?   

 

This final section answers these questions by: 

• Setting out our conclusions on the way free swimming currently works 

• Assessing free swimming against national priorities and wellbeing objectives 

• Outlining three indicative options for the future development of free swimming in 

Wales. 

 

Conclusions on how free swimming currently works  

Our summary conclusions on how free swimming in Wales currently works are: 

• Both programmes increased participation among their target groups in the early 

years of the scheme.  Overall they have provided opportunities for young people and 

older adults to be active through swimming.  From 2008 to 2017 (the years of most 

reliable data) there were in total some 10m. free splash and structured swims by 

young people and by older people at a cost of some £30m. in grant aid at an 

approximate cost therefore of £3 per free swim 

• Both programmes have proved adaptable. There has, for example, been a move 

away from ‘free splash’ sessions in favour of structured activities and an increased 

emphasis on ‘learn to swim’ and tackling deprivation, and some contribution to 

meeting the swimming needs of disabled people and BME communities. 

• Free swimming continues to offer a range of both free splash and free structured 

swims to both age groups.  Opportunities for free structured swims remain 

significant, although they have reduced for both age groups, and more markedly so 

for young people. 

• The number of free splash swims taken has remained broadly stable for the older 

age group, but declined greatly for young people.  This is associated with a major 

reduction in the number of free swim sessions for young people, which has in turn 

been prompted by expenditure reductions in local authorities. Although local 

authorities continue to exceed the basic minimum criteria to satisfy the very low 

grant aid requirements, they have reduced the extent to which they go beyond 

them. In recent years the grant has been focussed more on the older than the 

younger age group, reversing the earlier 70/30 weighting towards the young. 

• Local authorities take very different approaches to the way in which they deploy the 

free swimming grant, and there is great variation in the quality of their plans and in 

how they deliver them.  Many local authorities treat the free swimming grant as an 

Tudalen89



48 
 

income line, notwithstanding the explicit injunction not to do so which is set out in 

the grant arrangements which Sport Wales.  Nonetheless, some local authorities 

have provided effective leadership and adopted holistic approaches that integrate 

swimming successfully within broader aquatics plans. 

• Whilst users of free swimming are very positive about it, other stakeholders – both 

deliverers and national bodies - have varying degrees of concern about how it works, 

and are looking for change. 

• The free swimming grant has broadly equated with the notional lost income to local 

authorities if every free swim had been paid for in full.   However this does not relate 

to actual cost, which is in our assessment at most half of the grant aid which is 

distributed. 

• In terms of the equalities’ aspects of free swimming:  

o the weighting towards local authorities with greater deprivation through the 

funding formula is not necessarily reflected in the weighting towards 

deprived communities within local authorities, nor in terms of actual take up 

o In any event, providing free swimming is not sufficient to encourage 

participation by most ‘hard to reach’ groups. 

o many authorities do try and focus some of the grant aid towards the target 

groups of disabled people, BAME communities, and those who are 

disadvantaged, but this represents only a small proportion of the grant aid 

o in relation to older people, effectively only 6% of the 60+ population is able 

to make use of the free swimming offer, and the evidence is that that 6% is 

from the better off part of the community 

o accordingly, in relation to the bulk of the grant distributed (which is to the 

older age group) the free swimming grant is not at all a ‘universal’ benefit, 

but one which is skewed towards a very small part even of the 60+ 

population of Wales.  There is also evidence of substitution effects because 

many older participants would probably swim regularly without public 

subsidy. 

• Against the success factors which have been associated with a wide range of free 

swimming programmes, free swimming in Wales meets them in part.   

o Clearer guidance about the objectives of free swimming programmes is 

needed 

o The marketing of free swimming is not as effective as it should be 

o The funding mechanism does allow free swimming to be tailored to local 

contexts but the “minimum criteria” approach makes it more likely that the 

grant will be treated as an income line 

o The current monitoring and evaluation arrangements do not facilitate 

accountability against objectives beyond the minimum criteria. The funding 

formula is not linked to performance, and monitoring does not provide 

sufficient accountability for achieving intended outcomes because it focuses 

Tudalen90



49 
 

on the number of swims rather than the impacts on swimmers. Sport Wales 

cannot reward excellence - so long as local authorities meet the minimum 

criteria, they receive the funding.  

o The grant arrangements inhibit effective partnership between the funders 

and those responsible for delivery. 

o The synergies with other policies and programmes, and especially with ‘learn 

to swim’ policies, are not sufficiently clear.  

 

Our overall conclusion on the current way in which free swimming works is that there are 

now increasing mis-alignments within it between its objectives, the grant conditions, and 

the management arrangements.  These have been created partly from the impact of 

austerity as local authorities have struggled to optimise their income and balance the books.  

In our view free swimming will only be able to work well if it is changed in fairly radical 

ways.  Moreover, the programmes have not kept pace with broader policy developments.  

In particular, they are not yet explicitly linked to the achievement of the seven national 

wellbeing goals or to the priorities set out in the Welsh Government’s ‘Prosperity for All’ 

agenda.  These should be the key reference points for the change which is needed. 

 

National priorities 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 now provides a framework for both the 

goals of public services and the ways in which they are required to work.  The legislation was 

of course not in place when free swimming was started.  But it is an important reference 

point for assessing how the programmes relate to the current and emerging priorities for 

Wales, and even more so in relation to how free swimming may be changed and developed.  

The well-being goals of the Act are depicted diagrammatically below, and the definitions of 

them help to identify clearly that potentially the most relevant for the free swimming 

programmes are: 

 

• A Healthier Wales:  A society in which people’s physical and mental well-being is 
maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit future health are 
understood  

• A More Equal Wales:  A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter 
what their background or circumstances (including their socio economic 
circumstances)  

• A Wales of vibrant culture:  A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage 
and the Welsh language, and which encourages people to participate in the arts, 
sports and recreation  

 

 

Tudalen91

https://futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
https://futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/


50 
 

 
 

The ‘ways of working’ include, inter alia, a requirement to take account of the long term, to 

focus on prevention, to collaborate with other partners, and to ‘integrate’ (which means to 

consider how well-being objectives may impact upon each of the well-being goals and on 

the objectives of other public bodies). 

 

More broadly, free swimming clearly has potential to contribute directly to a wide range of 

public bodies’ objectives and Welsh Government’s ‘Prosperity for All’ strategy.  In the Welsh 

Government’s Wellbeing Statement for 2017, “Prosperity for all:  The National Strategy” the 

objective to ‘Promote good health and wellbeing for everyone’30 is four square with the core 

aim of free swimming to help people be more healthy and active.  This objective is designed 

to help give effect to three of the Act’s goals - a healthy Wales, a more equal Wales and a 

Wales of cohesive communities.  Other objectives relevant to free swimming include to 

build healthier communities, and supporting young people to make the most of their 

potential. 

 

Sport Wales has also published its Wellbeing Statement31, and has focussed on four high 

level objectives, one of which concerns children and young people becoming physically 

active for life, and another which strives for healthier lives for all through physical activity. 

 

To assess free swimming against these objectives, it is important to distinguish free ‘splash’ 

from free ‘structured’ swims, because they have a very different relationship to the 

objectives.  Clearly if some people are swimming more, and if some people swim in free 

splash sessions who would not otherwise have done so, then that supports an objective of 

‘healthy and active’.  If those people are drawn differentially from disadvantaged 

backgrounds, or are disabled or from BAME communities, then that supports an objective of 

                                                           
30 https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-10/prosperity-for-all-the-national-strategy-

well-being-statement-2017.pdf 
31 http://sportwales.org.uk/about-us/how-we-work/well-being-statement.aspx 
 

Tudalen92

https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-10/prosperity-for-all-the-national-strategy-well-being-statement-2017.pdf
https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-10/prosperity-for-all-the-national-strategy-well-being-statement-2017.pdf
http://sportwales.org.uk/about-us/how-we-work/well-being-statement.aspx


51 
 

equality. Whilst we do not know sufficient about the characteristics of ‘free swimmers’ to 

form hard and fast judgements, we do know that amongst the older age group only 6% of 

those 60+ swim, and that they are differentially better off.  And we know that there are now 

relatively very few free swims by younger people than hitherto.  The relatively low level of 

swimming in disadvantaged communities suggests that in practice in its current form it is 

unlikely to make a major contribution to tackling disadvantage.   As a ‘universal’ benefit free 

swimming differs dramatically from others such as free public transport and free 

prescriptions where the benefit is much more closely geared to need in the target 

population.    

 

In many ways the more significant potential contribution to the key Welsh Government and 

Sport Wales wellbeing objectives is in relation to free structured swims.  These take many 

forms across different local authorities, and they are geared to a wide range of relevant 

aims – helping people learn to swim, sessions for disabled people, a focus on BAME 

participation, and encouraging social inclusion through sport participation, to name just 

some.   The shift towards a greater focus on these activities was one of the major 

developments in the free swimming programmes.  They clearly are much more likely to 

impact on the wellbeing objectives because they are focussed and targeted, and linked to 

clear aims around activities which are supported and led by trained staff.  This is in contrast 

to free splash swims which are mostly self selected and of recreational value only. 

 

However, it is significant that only some 15% of the free swimming grant distributed is spent 

on structured swims.  The vast majority goes to subsidising free splash.  

 

Options for the future 

We believe that there is a need to strengthen the links between free swimming and other 

aquatic activities and to show how free swimming contributes directly to improving health 

and wellbeing, especially amongst those who are not currently physically active.  There are a 

wide range of ways in this might be achieved.  The possibilities range from improvements in 

the ways in which free swimming for the current target groups is managed and delivered 

through to a fundamental re-think of the objectives of the programmes and the most cost-

effective ways to achieve them.  

  

In this report we outline three indicative options.  There are, of course, several possible 

variants on each of these options, and any of them would, to differing degrees, require 

further work and a period of transition and/or piloting prior to full implementation.  The aim 

of spelling them out in these broad terms is to help inform discussions between Ministers, 

Sport Wales and its partners about which route is best suited to current needs and 

priorities.  Each of the options takes its cue from the wellbeing objectives of the Welsh 

Government and of Sport Wales, and whatever option is considered in the future, this needs 

to be in light of the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015.  These are the stated goals of 

Tudalen93



52 
 

public policy to inform the development of sport participation, so they now become the key 

reference point. 

 

Option A: The same target groups but introduce changes to ensure more effective delivery 

and stronger accountability for achieving broader policy and wellbeing objectives as 

opposed only to activities. 

This option would involve: 

• Retaining public subsidy for free swimming; 

• Continuing to focus provision on young people and people aged 60 plus; but 

• Strengthening the delivery of the programmes through improved clarity and 

accountability and better national marketing. 

 

This option responds to the views of stakeholders, notably Swim Wales and some local 

authorities, who expressed strong support the continuation of free-swimming programmes 

for young and older people, but accepts the need to ensure that they are cost-effective.  To 

deliver this we believe it would be necessary to introduce four key changes: 

• Much greater clarity of purpose;  

• Much more effective monitoring and accountability;  

• Better marketing to raise awareness of the programmes; and 

• Stronger support to local authorities to access and adopt good practice. 

These changes are equally important to other options, and we explain in detail why and how 

we believe they need to be implemented below. 

 

We do not consider that Option A offers the best way forward because in our view it is 

unlikely to reverse the decline in participation by young people or broaden participation 

among those aged 60 plus who participate.  Nor does it address the concerns about 

substitution effects which we highlighted above or guarantee that resources are directed 

sufficiently to the most deprived communities and to other target groups.   

 

Option B: New target groups, retain a strong element of swimming, and also include 

related activities and life skills linked to broader policy and wellbeing objectives  

This option would involve: 

• Retaining some public subsidy for free swimming; 

• Changing or broadening the target groups;  

• Adding the provision of related activities and life skills; and 

• Delivering the new programmes through a funding formula linked to agreed local 

strategies or via a challenge fund to which local authorities and other bid for 

funding. 

 

Like Option A, this approach would recognise the broad appeal of swimming. But unlike 

Option A, it would embrace swimming’s potential to deliver benefits to alternative target 

Tudalen94



53 
 

groups working in tandem with closely related activities.  It would require a significant re-

focusing of free swimming and a new approach to managing and delivering the 

programme(s) which could take a number of different forms.  Depending on its focus and 

objectives, it could be delivered ‘top down’ or ‘bottom up’ both of which have advantages 

and disadvantages and would need to be fully gauges   

 

Here we outline two illustrative examples, but we recognise there are other variants of this 

option that could be pursued. 

 

Option B1:  One possibility is a ‘top down’ approach that re-casts free swimming as an All 

Wales programme with the objective of ensuring that every child can swim.  This would 

have the benefit of clarity of purpose across the country as a whole.  It would be governed 

by clear national guidance and agencies receiving funding would be held accountable for 

achieving targets with future funding contingent on performance.  It would focus on a 

narrow range of activities that are known to be effective in enabling children to learn to 

swim, and it would focus on groups and localities which face particular barriers to learning 

for swim – for example children with disabilities and those living in the most deprived 

communities. 

 

A key aspect of such a programme would need to be much greater clarity of responsibilities 

in relation to learning to swim within the current and future school curriculum, and the part 

which extra curriculum sport and physical activity is to play in helping to achieve the core 

national objective. 

 

Option B2:  As an alternative to a ‘one size fits all’ focus across the whole country, it would 

be possible to offer a ‘bottom up’ approach that re-designed free swimming to give much 

greater discretion to local authorities and others to tailor provision to the needs of local 

communities.  Under this option, the target groups might, for example, include: 

• Children and adults living in deprived communities 

• Isolated older people 

• BAME communities with low swim rates 

• Women and girls, especially groups where there are cultural and social factors which 

inhibit participation 

• People suffering from mental ill health 

• Obese children and/or adults 

• People with physical disabilities. 

 

Local authorities could be invited to develop plans which meet the needs of their particular 

communities.  These would need to demonstrate clear evidence of need and to show why 

the proposed intervention(s) were considered to be the most effective use of resources.  

They would also agree with Sport Wales bespoke frameworks for monitoring and reporting 

Tudalen95



54 
 

outcomes.  Funding could be allocated on a formula basis as now, subject to approval of an 

authority’s plan by Sport Wales.   Alternatively, it could be distributed via a challenge fund 

that rewarded proposals that offered the best value for money (i.e. well evidenced 

proposals that addressed important needs that were based on a clear and compelling 

theory of change).  

 

Either of these versions of Option B would require a more hands-on approach by Sport 

Wales which would need to allocate sufficient in-house capacity to enable it to evaluate 

local plans and monitor their delivery.  There would need to be clear incentives and 

potential sanctions to encourage and drive better performance.  Building on the experience 

of the Calls for Action Programme, local authorities would need to work with partners with 

links to target groups such as voluntary sector organisations, schools and community groups 

and leaders. 

 

Option C: Integrating swimming with a broader range of physical activity and recreation 

swimming linked to broader policy and wellbeing objectives 

Option C would involve: 

• Continued recognition of the value of physical activity in improving health and 

wellbeing; 

• Acceptance that whilst it is very popular with the public swimming is only one of a 

range of physical activities that can contribute to these outcomes; and 

• Incentives for local authorities and other stakeholders to develop integrated 

interventions to encourage participation in swimming and a range of other sports 

and physical activities. 

 

This option would take account of the broader policy context in which swimming exists as 

set out in Taking Wales Forward and the contribution that swimming can make alongside 

other physical activity in promoting a Healthy and Active Wales in line with the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations Act.  It would also resonate with the Minister’s Remit Letter to Sport 

Wales in October 2017 which highlighted four priorities for Sport Wales: 

1. Getting more people active at every stage of their lives; 

2. Providing children with the best start in life by helping schools to teach them the 

skills and give them the knowledge, motivation and confidence to be, and stay, 

active; 

3. Investing effort and resources where it is needed most, where there are significant 

variations in participation and where there is a lack of opportunity or aspiration to 

be active; and 

4. Helping sport to continue to nurture, develop and support talent to deliver success 

that inspires people and reinforces our identity as a sporting nation. 

 

Tudalen96



55 
 

We understand that Public Health Wales and Sport Wales have worked closely to create 

new opportunities for stimulating participation geared to the wellbeing goals including the 

planned Healthy and Active Strategy.  Natural Resources Wales is also now involved.  

Proposals have been encouraged to include the following components: 

• A common set of agreed measures and indicators to track progress; 

• Narrative with clarity on respective roles and contributions to this agenda; and 

• Identified areas where resource and interventions will be aligned to achieve 

common outcomes, and a clear set of deliverables with timescales. 

 

Option C would be aligned with this broader vision, for which the wellbeing objectives of 

Public Health Wales and Natural Resources Wales would also be a key point of reference32.  

It would focus on the contribution that swimming can make to an individual’s physical 

literacy journey and focus funding on integrated strategies that combine swimming with 

other activities.   

 

This represents a more ambitious and far reaching set of changes and would need much 

more discussion between stakeholders to work out how best to implement it. We envisage 

that it would require a collaborative approach to design with the involvement of key 

organisations including Sport Wales, Public Health Wales and Natural Resources Wales, 

national governing bodies (including swimming but also other sports), local authorities, and 

partners with strong community links. It is likely that funding for such a scheme would be 

best allocated through some form of challenge fund rather than through funding formula.  

There would clearly need to be a period of transition during which the details of the new 

approach were developed, trialled and evaluated, and in which financial changes for local 

authorities and for ‘free swimmers’ are signalled well in advance and cushioned where 

appropriate.  We would expect such a scheme to be refined as Sport Wales and its national 

and local partners learned what works in practice. 

 

Management of the programmes 

The three options outlined above would have slightly different implications for how 

programmes are organised, but all three would require the four improvements which we 

highlighted under Option A above, namely: 

 

                                                           
32 Natural Resources Wales’ Well-being Statement and Well-being Objectives: 

https://naturalresources.wales/media/681277/nrw-well-being-statement.pdf 
Public Health Wales’ Well-being Statement and Well-being Objectives: 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/PHW%20H%26SH%20Well-
being%20Statement%20%26%20Objectives%20PDF%28e%29.pdf 

 

 

Tudalen97

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fnaturalresources.wales%2Fmedia%2F681277%2Fnrw-well-being-statement.pdf&data=02%7C01%7C%7C80fdb5b0acc74c9bf24108d5cd59823d%7C84df9e7fe9f640afb435aaaaaaaaaaaa%7C1%7C0%7C636640706671155349&sdata=CdHKb4oeGXI5M%2BNbpotoGlj42%2FcXgJgpou5KrLHXuHM%3D&reserved=0
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/PHW%20H%26SH%20Well-being%20Statement%20%26%20Objectives%20PDF%28e%29.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/PHW%20H%26SH%20Well-being%20Statement%20%26%20Objectives%20PDF%28e%29.pdf


56 
 

1. Clarity of Purpose:  Free swimming can potentially serve a range of different policy 

ambitions and can be interpreted in different ways by different stakeholders and in 

different local contexts.  However, there needs to be a clear steer at national level about 

what a public subsidy for swimming and/or other sports and physical activities is 

intended to achieve and how it is expected to do so.  Put another way, there needs to be 

a much clearer articulation of the theory of change that underpins whichever option is 

chosen to replace the current free swimming programmes and this needs to be co-

produced with stakeholders and communicated clearly so there is shared understanding 

of the rationale for the intervention(s).   

 

2. Monitoring and Accountability: Clarity of purpose needs to be accompanied by a 

framework for all the key actors which focuses on outputs and outcomes rather than 

inputs and activities, and is linked to the national health and wellbeing objectives.  We 

see this as essential, and operating at all levels – deliverers to users, two-way between 

deliverers and Sport Wales (and other funding bodies if appropriate), and between 

funding bodies and the Government and Assembly.   

 

Sport Wales, local authorities and other delivery partners need to agree a monitoring 

framework which reflect the theory of change and enables local authorities and other 

partners to give a clear account of how well they are delivering these.  We recommend 

that Sport Wales provides an annual assessment of the programme(s) which highlights 

achievements and any problem areas, and proposes revisions based on learning from 

their own insight and analysis and supplemented periodically by complementary 

independent assessment and review.  The aim should be to enable stakeholders at all 

levels to understand what the investment of public money in free swimming and/or 

other sports is achieving.   

 

Monitoring should have teeth.  For example, funding could be linked to results.  As now, 

it might in part relate to whether local authorities deliver minimum levels of provision, 

but it should also gauge the extent to which programmes deliver outputs and higher 

level outcomes which contribute to the agreed objectives.   

 

3. Raising awareness:  National marketing of free swimming has dropped away in recent 

years.  If free swimming is retained there needs to be an investment in national and 

local campaigns to increase awareness of it.  Equally, if the current programmes as 

replaced, the interventions which take their place will need marketing to potential 

participants.   

 

4. Promoting good practice:  Finally, we believe that there is a need for specific 

arrangements for identification, sharing and promotion of good practice between local 

authorities and other deliverers.  The greater the diversity of approaches based on the 

Tudalen98



57 
 

exercise of local discretion, the greater the need to capture and leverage what works 

well.  There is already learning to be drawn on from this review and some of the 

underlying evidence – for example, Sport Wales’ liaison officers identified a series of 

key factors which combine to make the programmes work well at local level, and we 

have seen various aspects of good and best practice across local authorities plans and 

practices.  They are an asset to be optimised, and they are the kind of asset which is 

augmented rather than diminished by frequency of use and adoption by others.   

 

 

July 2018 

 

 

  

Tudalen99



58 
 

Glossary and Acronyms 
 

 

BAME  Black Asian and Minority Ethnic  

COPA  Council of Old Peoples Associations 

CPD  Continuous Professional Development  

DSW  Disability Sport Wales  

FS  Free Swimming 

LA  Local Authority  

LAPAs  Local Authority Partnership Agreements 

LGDU  Local Government Data Unit (also known as Data Unit: Wales) 

LSOA  Lower Super Output Areas 

LTS   Learn to Swim 

WAG  Wales Assembly Government  

WCVA  Wales Council for Voluntary Action 

WIMD   Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation  

WLGA  Welsh Local Government Association  

WSA  Welsh Sports Association 

  

Tudalen100



59 
 

References 

 

N Bolton, et al Free Swimming Evaluation 2008, Cardiff, InVEST, 2008. 
Public Health Wales and Sport Wales,  Getting Wales Moving,  Cardiff, 2017. 
RCS Working Paper Free Swimming Data Analysis, Cardiff UKRCS Ltd, 2018. 

RCS Working Paper,  Free Swimming Literature Review, Cardiff, UKRCS Ltd, 2018. 

RCS Working Paper,  Free Swimming Survey Analysis, Cardiff, UKRCS Ltd, 2018. 

Sport Wales, Sport and Active Lifestyles Survey 2016-17, Cardiff, Sport Wales, 2017. 

Welsh Assembly Government, Climbing Higher, Cardiff, 2005. 

Welsh Government, Taking Wales Forward 2016-2021, Cardiff, 2016. 
 

Tudalen101



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



Appendix 2

Celtic Leisure

New Welsh Government Free Swim Initiative 

Background

Sport Wales commissioned an independent review into the Welsh Government Free Swim 
Initiative. Recommendations from this review have resulted in WG changing the offer with 
priority set for under 16 on a 60% to 40% split, and a significant reduction in the funding 
available (50% cut) 

Therefore, Celtic will only have approx. £25k to fund 60+ swimming whereby we currently 
provide over £135k worth of free swimming. 

New free swimming initiative Criteria requirement:

Under 16 - 1 Splash session every weekend at every pool

2 extra splash sessions per pool per week in the school holidays

No reference to set structured sessions

60+ - No criteria set for 60+ actual description from WG -  ‘should be “splash” 
provision for over 60’s’

Celtic New free swimming initiative Proposal

Under 16

Each site will offer 1 splash session each weekend

Each site will continue to run 2 extra splash sessions per week during the 
school holiday periods.

Learn To Swim = Celtic will work with NPTCC social services to offer Looked 
After Children FREE spaces on our LTS programme. Each site will provide a 
number of spaces for LAC to access this key life skill Free of Charge as part of 
the new FSI.

This proposal meets all 3 of the new priorities by providing the opportunities 
for those who wish to take part in swimming but face barriers to 
participation, promotes swimming as the key life skill for this group and 
provide an Active Lifestyle for these individuals with impact measured via 
Datahub.

 Positive Action – Priority to be given to those who wish to take part in swimming 
but face barriers to being active on a regular basis 

Tudalen103



 Life Skill – Promote swimming as a life skill through targeted support for young 
people 16 years and under

 Active Lifestyles – Improve mental and physical health and wellbeing by enabling 
young people (16 years and under) and older adults (over 60’s) to lead active 
lifestyles through swimming 

 

Evidence to show impact:

Datahub Social Value Calculator will be used to show the impact swimming within NPTCC 
has on the wider community within this age group. Through the following factors:

Health: CHD stroke; Breast Cancer; Colon Cancer; Diabetes; Dementia; Depression; Reduced 
GP visits

wellbeing

Educational attainment

Reduced crime. 

Benchmark – starting point will be impact currently recorded via Datahub.

No. of visits

% of available LTS spaces taken up by LAC

Case Studies – staying within GDPR requirements case studies will be collated from Social 
Services for children taking part in the Free LTS sessions. Has the LTS programme supported 
the child. 

60+ Provision:

With the significant reduction in funding for 60+ free swimming, Celtic are proposing 
to focus on supporting individuals with the greatest need. Therefore, free swimming 
will still be offered to all 60+ residents living within the most deprived wards in 
NPTCC. 

The definition of the ‘most deprived’ has been taken from the Welsh Index of 
Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) which is designed to identify the small areas in Wales 
that are the most deprived. To be classed as within the ‘most deprived’ area. The 
LSOA has to be in the top 10% of the most deprived areas in Wales

There are 12 wards across NPTCC that fall within the top 10%. 

LSOA Name (English)
WIMD 
LSOA 
Rank

  

Cymmer 22

Tudalen104



Sandfields West 2 72

Aberavon 4 79

Sandfields East 2 89

Neath North 2 112

Neath East 1 122

Briton Ferry West 1 123

Sandfields West 3 133

Aberavon 3 145

Neath East 2 148

Aberavon 2 166

Gwynfi 177

60+ residents living within these 12 wards will be offered Free Swimming during all 
public sessions across the Celtic pools. Residents will have to provide ‘proof of 
addresses along with proof of ID to receive this entitlement.

To sit alongside this Celtic also proposes to offer Free Swimming for all NPTCC 
residents in receipt of Pension Credit. Therefore, those with the greatest need for 
support to help live healthy, active lifestyles receive it.

This proposal meets the 2 required new priorities by providing the opportunities for 
those who wish to take part in swimming but face barriers to participation and 
provides an Active Lifestyle for these individuals with impact measured via Datahub.

 Positive Action – Priority to be given to those who wish to take part in swimming 
but face barriers to being active on a regular basis 

 Active Lifestyles – Improve mental and physical health and wellbeing by enabling 
young people (16 years and under) and older adults (over 60’s) to lead active 
lifestyles through swimming 

Sites will still offer 1 free swimming session per week per pool during ‘off peak’ times 
as per the recommended approach from WG and provide an opportunity across NPT 
for all 60+ residents to access free swimming. 

Due to the significant cut in funding Celtic can only offer limited subsidised 
swimming opportunities for 60+ residents not in the WIMD 10% or on pension 
credit.

Normal adult swim is £4.30, Celtic proposal is to offer a subsidised free swim of £2 a 
session. This will be purchased in a block of 10 swims, via a 60+ Free swim card, 
which will be £20. (these are valid for 1 year from date of purchase)

Tudalen105



For those participating more frequently in swimming a monthly Direct Debit option 
will be offered also at £20 per month.  This will only be available for 60+ as it is 
significantly subsidised to support 60+ access to Swimming and only valid for free 
public swimming.

An upfront 6-month and 12-month pass will also be offered

6 months = £120

12 months = £220 (12 months for price of 11)

60+ structured sessions:

There is no stipulation to offer 60+ structured sessions from 1st October 2019 as WG 
focus is on under 16 Free Swimming but Celtic have a number of 60+ structured 
sessions running each week which we would like to try and continue to support via 
the new subsidised offer.

The proposal is to charge a nominal fee of £1 per person for the structured activities 
currently offered to ensure Celtic can afford to continue to provide these vital 
activities for the community.

Evidence to show impact

Datahub Social Value Calculator will be used to show the impact of swimming within 
NPT has on the wider community within this age group. Through the following 
factors:

Health: CHD stroke; Breast Cancer; Colon Cancer; Diabetes; Dementia; Depression; 
Reduced GP visits, 

wellbeing

Benchmark – starting point will be impact currently recorded via Datahub.

No. of visits

% uptake for residents within WIMD top 10% or receiving pension credit. Celtic has 
a current benchmark for WIMD top 10% accessing 60+ free swim

Case Studies – staying within GDPR requirements case studies will be collated from 
60+ users accessing free swimming. Target 1 user per site, twice per year. 

 

Tudalen106



1

Impact Assessment template

1. Name of policy (Plan, project, strategy):  

Policy Lead Officer Gordon Clark 

Others involved in the assessment James Owens, Fergus Feeney, Simon Clarke, Michael Thomas, Jonathan Miller, 
Gary Nicholas, Laura Williams & Steve Ward (Project Advisory Group) plus 
Emma Tobutt (Sport Wales Policy Lead)

Dates of Impact assessment review points (The impact assessment should remain live 
throughout the life on the project and should be regularly updated by the project lead and 
project working group)

May 2020 - May 2021 - May 2022

2. Description of policy

Purpose and outcomes New Free Swimming Scheme (to be launched 1st October 2019)

Who will the policy impact on, who will be affected? Staff, general public, partners, 
stakeholders, athletes, specific closed groups?

General Public – primarily those under 17 and those over 60 across Wales

What protected characteristics do those impacted share? Age, Disability, Race, Sex, Socio-econimic disadvantaged, Welsh Language 

Date completed Drafted April/May 2019 completed June 2019

T
udalen107



2

3. What do we need to consider? / Where are the gaps in information? 

Information links: 
 StreetGames door step club's insight click here
 Sport Wales Equalities Evidence Paper click here
 Free Swimming in Wales: A Review (UKRCS July 2018)
 Free Swimming Service Re-Design (UKRCS December 2018)

What does insight and evidence tell us 
about this group?

What factors might affect people 
gaining the same outcome from the 
policy (policy refers to the document 
that is being assessed for impact).

What action should be considered to reduce 
any potential disadvantage or to further 
develop positive impact?

E.g. You might want to think about finding 
out more, who do you need to speak with, do 
you require additional information? 

Age 
Research has shown that only 6%, 
approximately, of those 60 and over currently 
access free swimming

Participation for the 60+ has stayed relatively 
static since the programme started

Participation for young people has fallen 
significantly since the programme started 

The Welsh population of over 60s is increasing

 Poor transport links
 Not able to swim
 Lack of awareness of opportunities
 Lack of confidence in water
 Lack of parental support 
 Limited outreach from the pools
 Reduction of times offered
 Isolation and poor health 
 Physical access to the pool 
 Financial need is not a determing 

factor in swimming

We have been given a clear steer from the Welsh 
Government that the priority is tartgeting those 
who don’t currently access the opportunities and 
that young people are the priority – budget 
allocation is 60% Young People.

It is recognised that because of the changes to the 
scheme that the biggest impact is likely to be on 
the over 60s. However, this will be mitigated, as 
much as possible, by delivery partners utilising 
insights and data to drive planning ensuring that 
they target those who need it the most. 

T
udalen108

https://sportwalesnfp-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/gordon_clark_sport_wales/EVb4-CY5OlhNgo8LR44grXMBl_ASVMWG1bCjmwArK69auw?e=VBUX5J
https://sportwalesnfp.sharepoint.com/:w:/s/equality/EU_3XsmklO9Lo8nwVcI6akgBZZT87qDcSMddOo38HKneow


3

What does insight and evidence tell us 
about this group?

What factors might affect people 
gaining the same outcome from the 
policy (policy refers to the document 
that is being assessed for impact).

What action should be considered to reduce 
any potential disadvantage or to further 
develop positive impact?

E.g. You might want to think about finding 
out more, who do you need to speak with, do 
you require additional information? 

Young people often need the support of 
parents / careers to access pools to benefit 
from the offer

There is a high demand from young people for 
more aquatic opportunities

In making partners submission and in reporting 
every six months partners with be challenged on 
evidencing how they are targeting those most in 
need, what their learning has been and how they 
will change provision to suite customer needs.

Sport Wales will collaboarte with the sector to 
capture and share learning to help inform future 
practice. The learning will be used to build 
capability and capacity with partners, to engage 
better with the target audiences.

The advisory group will prepare FAQs for 
stakeholders to help explain these changes as well 
as respond to customer complaints.

Disability
There are greater barriers for those with a 
disability in accessing aquatic activities

 Poor transport links
 Not able to swim
 Lack of awareness of opportunities
 Lack of condidence in water
 Limited outreach from the pools
 Reduction of times offered
 Isolation and poor health 
 Physical access to the pool

As with age, partners will use local insight and 
intelligence to shape the planning of bigger and 
better opportunities that put the needs of the 
individual first.

Partners will be challenged regarding positive 
action to engage and attract those with disabilities 

T
udalen109



4

What does insight and evidence tell us 
about this group?

What factors might affect people 
gaining the same outcome from the 
policy (policy refers to the document 
that is being assessed for impact).

What action should be considered to reduce 
any potential disadvantage or to further 
develop positive impact?

E.g. You might want to think about finding 
out more, who do you need to speak with, do 
you require additional information? 

 Workforce not skilled enough in 
dealing with disabilities

and life limiting considitons to ensure equal access 
and opportunity.

Sport Wales will collaboarte with the sector to 
capture and share learning to help inform future 
practice. The learning will be used to build 
capability and capacity with partners, to engage 
better with the target audiences.

Partner plans will have to evidence how they are 
engaging with target audiences within local 
communities through their communication plans

Gender Reassignment
Due to the nature of the target audience it is 
unlikely that this will be an issue. 

 Changing facilities
 Gender specific opportunities

Due to the age groups targeted the likelihood of 
those going through transition will be negligible. 
However, where the situation arises facilities will 
have to complete their own Impact Assessments 
and follow their own equality policies to ensure 
equality of opportunity  

Marriage or civil partnership
No potential impact 

Pregnancy or Maternity
No potential impact 

T
udalen110



5

What does insight and evidence tell us 
about this group?

What factors might affect people 
gaining the same outcome from the 
policy (policy refers to the document 
that is being assessed for impact).

What action should be considered to reduce 
any potential disadvantage or to further 
develop positive impact?

E.g. You might want to think about finding 
out more, who do you need to speak with, do 
you require additional information? 

Race
Those from a BAME background are less likely 
to access sporting opportunities 

 Poor transport links
 Not able to swim
 Lack of awareness of opportunities
 Lack of condidence in water
 Lack of parental support 
 Limited outreach from the pools
 Reduction of times offered
 Isolation and poor health 
 Physical access to the pool 
 Some cultural norms
 Lack of facilities in key areas
 Workforce not skilled enough to 

engaging BAME communities
 Understanding that targeting is 

unlikely to generate significant 
numbers – this is about impact

As with age and disability, partners will use local 
insight and intelligence to shape the planning of 
bigger and better opportunities that put the needs 
of the individual first.

Partners will be challenged regarding positive 
action to engage and attract those from BAME to 
ensure equal access and opportunity. They will also 
be challenged to engage with the communities to 
better understand their needs and where 
appropriate make changes to the offer.

Sport Wales will collaboarte with the sector to 
capture and share learning to help inform future 
practice. The learning will be used to build 
capability and capacity with partners, to engage 
better with the target audiences.

Partner plans will have to evidence how they are 
engaging with target audiences within local 
communities through their communication plans

Religion and Belief
Cultural practices will determine how groups 
and individuals might access opportunities 

 Dress code
 Gender specific activity 
 Gender specific staff

As with age, disability and Race, partners will use 
local insight and intelligence to shape the planning 

T
udalen111



6

What does insight and evidence tell us 
about this group?

What factors might affect people 
gaining the same outcome from the 
policy (policy refers to the document 
that is being assessed for impact).

What action should be considered to reduce 
any potential disadvantage or to further 
develop positive impact?

E.g. You might want to think about finding 
out more, who do you need to speak with, do 
you require additional information? 

 Changing facilities 
 Days of the week or period of year 

of bigger and better opportunities that put the 
needs of the individual first.

Partners will be challenged regarding positive 
action to engage and attract those from different 
religions to ensure equal access and opportunity. 
They will also be challenged to engage with the 
communities to better understand their needs and 
where appropriate make changes to the offer.

Sport Wales will collaboarte with the sector to 
capture and share learning to help inform future 
practice. The learning will be used to build 
capability and capacity with partners, to engage 
better with the target audiences.

Partner plans will have to evidence how they are 
engaging with target audiences within local 
communities through their communication plans

Sex
The data available seems to suggest similar 
male and female participation rates which 
goes against other surveys wich suggest that 

 Confidence 
 Changing facilities 
 Motivation 
 Nature of Activity 

Partners will be asked to monitor any differences 
in male/female mumbers and take appropriate 
actions

T
udalen112



7

What does insight and evidence tell us 
about this group?

What factors might affect people 
gaining the same outcome from the 
policy (policy refers to the document 
that is being assessed for impact).

What action should be considered to reduce 
any potential disadvantage or to further 
develop positive impact?

E.g. You might want to think about finding 
out more, who do you need to speak with, do 
you require additional information? 

teenage girls in particular take part in less 
regular activities than boys 

The reason for male and female accessing 
sport are often different

 Friendship group Sport Wales will collaboarte with the sector to 
capture and share learning to help inform future 
practice. The learning will be used to build 
capability and capacity with partners, to engage 
better with the target audiences.

Sexual Orientation
No potential impact 

Socio-economic 
disadvantage

Participation in regular sport is less likely for 
those living in areas of socio-economic 
disadvantaged

Young people living in poverty are less likely to 
be able  to swim by the end of primary school.

Families living in poverty have approx, £3.10 
per household, per week for leisure so they 
have to really value it before taking up an 
opportunity. 

For many living in poverty accessing sporting 
opportunities is often not the highest of 
priority. 

 A lack of resources
 Limited activity knowhow
 Low confidence levels
 Poor skill level
 Ill health 
 Poor transport links 

The guidance note and briefing events will clearly 
highlight that the scheme wll be focussing on 
positive action which is 1 of 3 key priorities (Skill 
for Life & Active Lifestyles) 

Where LA pools are not in the best place for those 
living in poverty to access, consideration needs to 
be given to how they can support access to other 
bodies of water 

Partners are being asked to consider wider 
partnerships who are already engaging with these 
target groups e.g. Housing Associations, 
StreetGames, Youth Organisations, Age Cymru etc

T
udalen113



8

What does insight and evidence tell us 
about this group?

What factors might affect people 
gaining the same outcome from the 
policy (policy refers to the document 
that is being assessed for impact).

What action should be considered to reduce 
any potential disadvantage or to further 
develop positive impact?

E.g. You might want to think about finding 
out more, who do you need to speak with, do 
you require additional information? 

Identifying and supporting community champions 
who can be the voice and connector to target 
groups.

Sport Wales will collaboarte with the sector to 
capture and share learning to help inform future 
practice.

Welsh Language

Are there any factors that 
might affect the opportunity 
to use Welsh language, or 
that might treat Welsh 
Language less favourably?

Welsh language standards put a duty on public 
bodies to increase the opportunitied for 
people to take part in welsh life through the 
medium of Welsh.

People who speak Welsh actually access sport 
more often than many target groups. 

Lack of confidence of instructors to teach in 
Wesh

There is a growth in bilingual matrials from 
Swim Wales which is helping to address this 
challenge

 Limited opportunities to take part in 
aquatic opportunities through the 
medium of Welsh including Learn to 
Swim

Delivery partners will be asked to evidence how 
they are increasing Welsh Language swimming 
provision, where appropriate e.g. Cardiff Sport 
work collaboratively with the Urdd

Communication needs to be considered in both 
Welsh and English.

Evaluation will identify emerging practice which 
will be shared with all stakeholders

T
udalen114



9

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-
being of Wales. It will make the public bodies listed in the Act think more about the long-term, work better with people and 
communities and each other, look to prevent problems and take a more joined-up approach. This will help us to create a Wales that 
we all want to live in, now and in the future

4. How will the policy impact on WbFGA National Goals?

Well-being Goal How does the policy impact 
against the Well-being of 
Future Generations Goals?

What actions can be taken to better 
impact against the Well-being of Future 
Generations Goals? (List action points)

A prosperous Wales
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs

 

A resilient Wales
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate change)

  

A healthier Wales
People’s physical and mental wellbeing is 
maximized and health impacts are 
understood

There will be more positive action to 
target those who don’t currently access 
swimming as a healthy active

Greater links with Public Health to 
identify those who might need it the 
most 

Delivery partners will be encouraged to make better 
links with Public Health to identify opportunities and 
deliver in collaboration.

The new scheme has been developed with Future 
Generation Goals and Vision for Sport in Wales 
principles at the heart.

Active Lifestyles and impacting on Mental and Physical 
wellbeing is one of 3 scheme priorities alongside Skills 
for Life and Positive Action

T
udalen115



10

Providers will be encouraged to engage with local 
people and agencies to advocate the health benefits of 
taking part in swimming.

A Wales of cohesive communities
Communities are attractive, viable, safe 
and well connected

Targeted interventions in areas of low 
aquatics attainment to raise the 
number of people who can swim 

Partners are being asked to consider LTS attainment 
levels and where appropriate take action to improve 
young peoples water skills and subsequently safety 
around water.

Delivery Partners are being asked to engage with local 
people and local agenies to better deliver 
opportunities locally through being more connected

A globally responsible Wales
Taking account of impact on global well-
being when considering local social, 
economic and environmental wellbeing

  

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are 
promoted and protected.  People are 
encouraged to do sport, art and recreation

People who speak Welsh are more 
likely to take part in regular sport than 
their non Welsh-speaking conterparts. 

Where appropriate partners will be challenged to 
provide opportunities and communication in the Welsh 
language 

A more equal Wales
People can fulfil their potential no matter 
what their background or circumstances 
This includes the protected characteristics of age, 
disability, gender reassignment, race, religion or 
beliefs, sex, socio economic disadvantage.

The scheme will be better targeted to 
those who need it the most

Delivery partners will be challenged to evidence how 
they are targeting those most in need and their 
impact on the lives of those people. Further action is 
identified in the Impact Assessment 

Positive Action is one of 3 scheme priorities alongside 
Skills for Life and Active Lifestyles

T
udalen116



11

 5. The Well-being of Future Generations Act sets out ways of working to support sustainable 
development , in developing policy the 5 ways of working should be applied.

Sustainable Development 
Principle (Ways of working.)

How has the principle been applied? What action will be put in place to better 
apply the principle.

Balancing short term 
need with long term and 
planning for the future

The Minister has been asked to make a 3-5 year 
commitment to the programme to give the delivery 
partners the time to make the changes 

Partners have been asked to focus on the transition 
period of 1st October 2019 to March 2021 as a means 
to evidence the need for long term funding 

With YP being the focus the scheme is talking a long 
term approach to encouraging behaviour change. 

Partner are being made aware of the need to focus on 
integrating FS with other strategic planning such as 
Vision for Sport in Wales, Future Generations Act and 
Local Wellbeing Goals, Aquatic Planning to support 
long term sustainability

Also partners are clear on the need to evidence impact 
beyond numbers to ensure the funding is sustained 
beyond March 2021

Free swimming should be integrated into LA Strategic 
Aquatic Plans – currently 17 out of 22 but of varying 
quality.

Working together with 
other partners/ 
organisations to deliver 
objectives 

Delivery partners are being asked to look beyond 
existing pools and stakeholders to better target those 
most in need. 

Regionalsation should be considered within 
submissions

Delivery partners will have to identify a new range of 
organisation that they are working with as well as 
collaborating with their neighbours.

There will be monitoring with delivery partners every 6 
months with formal reporting to Sport Wales Board and 
The Welsh Government annually 

T
udalen117



12

Sustainable Development 
Principle (Ways of working.)

How has the principle been applied? What action will be put in place to better 
apply the principle.

Involving those with an 
interest and seeking 
their views

Local Delivery partners will have to evidence the 
needs of the local population as well as gather 
feedback to support continuous improvement. Being 
participant led is absolutely in the DNA of the 
scheme. 

Deliverers are clear that they will have to identify how 
they will engage more with the customer and local 
agencies as well as what they are learning from 
customer feedback 

Putting resources into 
preventing problems 
occurring or getting 
worse

Young People in deprivation are at the heart of the 
new scheme and as such by tackling issues early the 
aim is to reduce long term issues.

However, the reductions in the 60 plus offer is likely 
to result in challenges against the prevention of 
problems. However, there will still be some provision 
aimed at those who need it the most 

The business case clearly identified how this scheme 
will contribute to problems such as health, poverty, 
community cohesion

Scheme guidance clearly shows that this new scheme 
is about attracting those who don’t take part and as a 
result help prevent existing and future health problems. 
The impact on health will be a key measure.

T
udalen118



13

Sustainable Development 
Principle (Ways of working.)

How has the principle been applied? What action will be put in place to better 
apply the principle.

Considering impact on 
all wellbeing goals 
together and on other 
bodies  

Evaluation will seek to evidence the impact on a 
persons wellbeing and social impact on other 
agendas

It will be made clear to partners that the new scheme 
needs to integrate with wider strategic planning and not 
be delivered in isolation. This has been made clear in 
written guidance and in the regional briefings. The roles 
and responsibilities also clearly outline that LAs are 
accountable for local measuring and reporting of impact 

The evaluation framework will ask partners to consider 
how they will report against the weelbeing goals and 
that Sport Wales will be responibsle for collating and 
reporting this to Sport Wales Board and Welsh 
Government 

Through working in collaboration with partners e.g. 
Housing Association etc, this work will impact on 
common goals that should be identified and shared. 

6.What are the next steps? Action/tasks identified through the assessment including consulting and 
engaging, providing additional research or evidence.

Action Timescale Lead Progress made Impact understood to date

Regional briefings – make partners aware of the new 
focus of the scheme

June/July 2019 GC

Evaluation framework designed to capture social impact July 2019 GC

T
udalen119



14

Support available to delivery partners to plan for the 
revised scheme

June to October 
2019 and 
beyond

GC

Review of partner plans by SO and Steering Group September 
2019

Advisory 
Group 
and GC

Update partner guidance and share ideas from 
submitted delivery plans 

October 2019 GC

Review of 6 month reports and amend EQIA as 
appropriate if not engaging the target audience and 
making the impact that is envisaged 

May 2020 GC

7.In summary … is there any significant potential negative impact or risk to any protected group or any 
well-being goal?

Protected Group/Well-being goal potential negative impact or risk Level of potential impact or risk (Low, medium or high)

Age (60+) There will be fall-out from a reduction in free swimming 
opportunities for the 60+. This will be mitigated against 
by positive messaging around targeting those most in 
need and not currently accessing the programme 

Medium to High 

T
udalen120



15

8. What changes will you make to the policy as a result of the Impact Assessment

Changes Likely impact/ known impact

1 New Scheme Guidacne and submission process has been changed to emphasis the focus 
on young people and deprivation

Partners clear on the direction of the new scheme

2

Date of next review May/June 2020

Has the Corporate Equality Lead reviewed this assessment?   Yes (28 June 2019)

If no please forward to Emma Tobutt, Sport Wales Corporate Equality Lead: emma.tobutt@sport.wales

T
udalen121



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Leisure and Culture Cabinet Board 

5th September 2019

 Report of the Head of Participation 

Chris Millis

Matter for Monitoring

Wards Affected: All Wards

Report Title
Quarterly Performance Management Data 2019-2020 – 
Quarter 1 Performance (1st April 2019– 30th June 2019)

Purpose of the Report:
To provide members with quarter 1 performance management data, 
for the period 1st April 2019 to 30th June 2019 for Education, Leisure 
and Lifelong Learning Directorate relating to Leisure and Culture. 
This will enable the Leisure and Culture Cabinet Board to discharge 
their functions in relation to performance management.

Executive Summary:
The report provides data relating to the Library Service concerning 
the number of visitors and percentage of quality indicators achieved, 

Tudalen123

Eitem yr Agenda7



a summary of the number of people participating in a sporting activity 
at the council facilities and the number of visitors to our Theatres.

Background:
Members are presented with a full suite of Leisure and Culture KPI’s 
(Corporate Plan and Local KPI’s). 
A list of quarter 1 key performance KPI’s with progress comments on 
each indicator are attached as appendix 1. 

KPI status:
• GREEN (green traffic light) - KPI’s that have improved on or 
achieved target
• AMBER (amber traffic light) - KPI’s that have not achieved 
target but performance is within 5%
• RED (red traffic light) - KPI’s that are 5% or more below target

Where available, appendix 1 provides performance data for quarter 1 
performance for 2016/17, 2017/18 & 2018/19. The target provided is 
for the corresponding period.

Financial Impacts: 

The performance described in the report is being delivered against a 
challenging financial backdrop and reduced budget.

Integrated Impact Assessment:
There is no requirement to undertake an Integrated Impact 
Assessment as this report is for monitoring / information purposes.

Valleys Communities Impacts: 
No implications.

Workforce Impacts:
The Council’s workforce continues to contract as financial resources 
continue to reduce. In recognition of the scale of change affecting the 

Tudalen124



workforce, a new Corporate Workforce Plan has been developed to 
support the workforce to adapt to the changes that are taking place.

Legal Impacts:
This Report is prepared under:
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and discharges the 
Council’s duties to “make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the exercise of its functions”. 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Constitution requires 
each cabinet committee to monitor quarterly budgets and 
performance in securing continuous improvement of all the functions 
within its purview.

Risk Management Impacts: 
Failure to provide a suitable monitoring report within the timescales 
could lead to non-compliance with our Constitution. Also, failure to 
have robust performance monitoring arrangements in place could 
result in poor performance going undetected.

Consultation:
There is no requirement under the Constitution for external 
consultation on this item.

Recommendations: 
Members monitor performance contained within this report.
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
Matter for monitoring. No decision required.

Implementation of Decision:
Matter for monitoring. No decision required.

Appendices: 
Appendix 1: Key Performance Management Data - Quarterly.
List of Background Papers:
The Neath Port Talbot Corporate Improvement Plan - 2019-2022

Tudalen125



Monitoring forms/spreadsheets
Welsh Government Statistical Releases

Officer Contact:
Neal Place, Performance Management Officer. 
E-mail   n.place@npt.gov.uk. Tel. 01639 763619

Tudalen126



Neath Port Talbot Council
Performance Indicators

Print Date: 30-Aug-2019

Appendix 1 - Leisure and Culture –  Key Performance Indicators - Quarter 1 - 2019/20 Neal Place - 
Performance Management Officer

T
udalen127



How will we know we are making a difference (01/04/2019 to 30/06/2019)?
PI Title Actual 

17/18
Actual 
18/19

Actual 
19/20

Target 
19/20

Perf. RAG

3 Well-being Objective 3 - To develop the local economy and environment so that the well-being of people can be improved
CP/072 - Number of visits to our theatres 55641.00 51715.00 65045.00 60000.00

Green
Both the Theatres continue to grow their audiences with a 25% rise in visitors numbers compared to quarter 1 2018/19. The Princess Royal continues to build on its reputation as a 
venue for both TV Comedians and also as a music venue. Pontardawe Arts Centre has reviewed it programming policy, to ensure that the Centre’s offer is more commercial and secure 
increased footfall.
CP/073 - PAM/040 - Percentage of quality Indicators achieved by the Library Service 65.00

NA
This PI is based on the annual library standards report which has been submitted to Welsh Government. Feedback and evaluation will be due by the end of 2019. 
All Wales data for 2018/19 is not available yet.
CP/074 - PAM/017 - Number of visits to leisure centres per 1,000 population 1830.87 1896.30 2200.00

Red
There has been a rise in visitor numbers to leisure centres per 1,000 population compared to the figures for 2017/18 for quarter 1.
The figure for 2018/19 quarter 1 was incorrectly calculated and adjustments are being made.
The targets were calculated on the incorrect 2018/19 figures so may need adjusting.

ELLL - LCL001 - The number of visits to public libraries during the year, per 1,000 population
(measured cumulatively over the financial year - quarterly)

1366.97 1277.26 1300.86 1275.00

Green
There has been a rise in both actual and website visitor figures during the first quarter of 2019/20 compared to the first quarter of 2018/19. This is a reflection of the greater 
engagement by library staff within their communities.

Page 2 of 2

Neath Port Talbot Council Date From: 01-Apr-2019 Date To: 30-Jun-2019

T
udalen128



Version 3– 5 August 2019 Officer Responsible: Charlotte Davies

Leisure and Culture Scrutiny Sub Committee 
Forward Work Programme 2018/19

Date of Meeting Agenda Item Cabinet 
Board

Officer

26 June 2019 Cancelled

5 September 2019
Christmas opening hours (libraries/leisure) 24 Oct Paul Walker
Quarter 1 Performance Data 19/20 12 Sep Chris Millis/Carl 

Glover

Pontardawe Arts Centre Business Plan 12 Sep Paul Walker

Welsh Government Free Swimming Report 12 Sep Paul Walker

5 December 2019
Arts Strategy 5 Dec
Celtic Leisure – Quarter 1 5 Dec Paul walker

T
udalen129

E
item

 yr A
genda8



Version 3– 5 August 2019 Officer Responsible: Charlotte Davies

Celtic Leisure Annual Report (Celtic Leisure in 
attendance)

5 Dec Paul Walker

Local Authority Partnership Agreement 2020/21 12 Dec Paul Walker
Margam Park Business Plan Update 5 Dec Paul Walker
Quarter 2 – Performance Data 19/20 12 Dec Chris Millis/Carl 

Glover
Wales Audit Office Leisure report Paul Walker/ 

Andrew Thomas

27 February 2020
Princess Royal Business Plan – Decision 5 Mar Paul Walker

Welsh Public Library Standards Annual report 5 Mar Wayne John

Pontardawe Cinema update Report 5 Mar Paul walker

Celtic Leisure – Quarter 2 5 Mar Paul Walker

Quarter 3 Performance Data 19/20 5 Mar Chris Millis/ Carl 
Glover

Items to be programmes in:

Celtic Leisure – Quarter 3 
(Unable to schedule in Celtic Leisure Quarter 3, as there isn’t a suitable date, I would potentially need a 
meeting in April)

T
udalen130



Education, Skills and Culture Cabinet Board

Version 3 – August 2019 Officer Responsible: Jayne Woodman-Ralph

2019/20 FORWARD WORK PLAN (DRAFT)
EDUCATION, SKILLS and CULTURE CABINET BOARD

MEETING
DATE
2019

Agenda Items

Type
(Decision/ 
Monitoring/ 
Information)

Rotation
(Topical, 
Annual, Bi-
Annual, 
Quarterly, 
Monthly)

Leisure and 
Culture

Scrutiny Sub
Committee

Contact Officer/Head of 
Service

Quarter 1 Performance Data 19/20 Monitoring Quarterly
5 Sept 19

Chris Millis/
Carl Glover

School Attendance Report –
Including persistent absenteeism and 
the work of the EWO’s

Information 6 Monthly
John Burge/ 

Andrew Thomas

Establish ALN Provision – 
Permission to Consult

Decision Topical Andrew Thomas

Pontardawe Business Plan Update Information Topical 5th Sept 19 Paul Walker

Home to School Travel Policy 20/23 Decision Topical C.Millis

School Governing Bodies
 – Update Report

Information Topical John Burge/
Hayley Lervy

12 Sept

Welsh Government Free Swimming 
Report

Information Topical 5th Sept 19 Paul Walker

T
udalen131

E
item

 yr A
genda9



Education, Skills and Culture Cabinet Board

Version 3 – August 2019 Officer Responsible: Jayne Woodman-Ralph

MEETING
DATE
2019

Agenda Items

Type
(Decision/ 
Monitoring/ 
Information)

Rotation
(Topical, 
Annual, Bi-
Annual, 
Quarterly, 
Monthly)

Leisure and 
Culture

Scrutiny Sub
Committee

Contact 
Officer/Head of 
Service

Annual Report on Young People who are not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET)

Information Annual C.Millis/
ASC

Christmas/New Year Opening Times
(Libraries, Leisure Centres etc)

Decision Annual 5 Sept 19 Wayne John/
Andrew Thomas

Funding Formula Review
Permission to Consult

Decision Topical Andrew Thomas
Liz Dennis

New Curriculum (Presentation) Info Topical C.Millis/
M.Daley

Employability Update Info Annual C.Millis/
ASC

Think Families Partnership Update Info Annual C.Millis/
ASC

Leadership Strategy in Schools Info Topical C.Millis/
M.Daley

24 Oct

Libraries Review Info Topical A.Thomas

T
udalen132



Education, Skills and Culture Cabinet Board

Version 3 – August 2019 Officer Responsible: Jayne Woodman-Ralph

MEETING
DATE
2019

Agenda Items

Type
(Decision/ 
Monitoring/ 
Information)

Rotation
(Topical, 
Annual, Bi-
Annual, 
Quarterly, 
Monthly)

Leisure and 
Culture

Scrutiny Sub
Committee

Contact 
Officer/Head of 
Service

Quarter 2 Performance Data 19/20 Monitoring Quarterly 5 Dec 19 C.Glover/
C.Millis

Schools Admission Policy 22/23
(Permission to Consult)

Decision Annual Helen Lewis/
Andrew Thomas

Process for Self Evaluation Info Topical C.Millis/
Mike Daley

Pupil Exclusion Report Update Annual John Burge/
Hayley Lervy

Local Authority Partnership Agreement Sports Wales Decision Annual 5 Dec 19 Paul Walker/
A.Thomas

12 Dec

Wales Audit Office Leisure Report Information Topical 5 Dec 19 Paul Walker/
A.Thomas

T
udalen133



M
ae’r dudalen hon yn fw

riadol w
ag


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol
	Minutes

	4 Oriau agor dros y Nadolig a'r Flwyddyn Newydd 2019 - Llyfrgelloedd, Theatrau, Canolfannau Cymunedol, Parc Gwledig Margam, Canolfannau Hamdden a Phyllau Nofio
	Libraries closing times Appendix 1
	Appendix Two Libraries
	Impact Assessment Libraries Appendix 3

	5 Adroddiad Cynnydd Cynllun Busnes Canolfan Celfyddydau Pontardawe
	Appendix 1 PAC Business plan update

	6 Menter Nofio am Ddim Newydd Llywodraeth Cymru
	Free Swimming Report Final
	Swimming Appendix 2
	swimming 3

	7 Data Rheoli Perfformiad Chwarterol 2019-2020 - Dangosyddion Perfformiad Chwarter 1 (1 Ebrill 2019 - 30 Mehefin 2019)
	Appendix 1 - Quarter 1 - Key Performance Indicators Leisure and Culture PI's

	8 Blaenraglen Waith Craffu 2017/18.
	9 Derbyn Blaenraglen Waith Bwrdd Addysg, Sgiliau a Diwylliant y Cabinet ar gyfer 2017/18.

